DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 193

# ARTUR GORNISCHEFF

Study of ionization efficiencies for derivatized compounds in LC/ESI/MS and their application for targeted analysis





# DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 193

DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 193

# **ARTUR GORNISCHEFF**

Study of ionization efficiencies for derivatized compounds in LC/ESI/MS and their application for targeted analysis



Institute of Chemistry, Faculty of Science and Technology, University of Tartu, Estonia

The dissertation is accepted for the commencement of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Chemistry on June 12nd, 2020, by the Council of Institute of Chemistry, University of Tartu.

Supervisors:	Riin Rebane, PhD, Institute of Chemistry, University of Tartu,
	Estonia

Opponent: Prof. Tuulia Hyötyläinen, Örebro University, Sweden

Commencement: August 18th, 2020 at 12:15, Ravila 14a, Tartu

This work has been /partially/ supported by Graduate School of Functional materials and technologies receiving funding from the European Regional Development Fund in University of Tartu, Estonia



European Union European Regional Development Fund



ISSN 1406-0299 ISBN 978-9949-03-390-4 (print) ISBN 978-9949-03-391-1 (pdf)

Copyright: Artur Gornischeff, 2020

University of Tartu Press www.tyk.ee

# CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	7 7
ABBREVIATIONS	8
INTRODUCTION	9
REVIEW OF LITERATURE LC/ESI/MS/(MS) analysis	10 10
Ion source and ionization efficiency Ionization	11 12 13
Negative and positive ionization mode Adduct formation in ESI	14 15
Fragmentation characteristics LC/ESI/MS analysis of amino acid derivatives	16 17
Benefits of knowing RF values for MRM mode	20 21
EXPERIMENTAL	23 23
Derivatization of amino acids LC-ESI-MS-MS conditions	24 26
Instrumentation	27 28
log <i>IE</i> for derivatized amino acids	28 28 29
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	30
(Paper I) Setting up chromatographic analysis for derivatized amino Solvent composition studies	30 31
Influence of derivatization on amino acid ionization efficiency Using log <i>IE</i> to predict sensitivity for LC/MS analysis (Paper II)	36 40
Sodium-adduct formation and negative mode ionization efficiency Measurements in MRM mode	41 43
Fragmentation patterns of derivatized amino acids Correlation between ionization efficiency and response factor in MRM	44
Mode for derivatized amino acids	49
(Paper III)	53

Validation of the ionization efficiency-based quantification method (Paper III)	57
Comparison of amino acid concentrations in wines, beers and tea	59
SUMMARY	61
REFERENCES	63
SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN	72
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	74
APPENDIX	75
PUBLICATIONS	79
CURRICULUM VITAE	113
ELULOOKIRJELDUS	114

# LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

- I **Gornischeff, Artur**; Liigand, Jaanus; Rebane, Riin (2018). A systematic approach toward comparing electrospray ionization efficiencies of derivatized and non-derivatized amino acids and biogenic amines. Journal of mass spectrometry: JMS, 53 (10), 997–1004. 10.1002/ jms.4272.
- II Rebane, Riin; Kruve, Anneli; Liigand, Jaanus; Liigand, Piia; Gornischeff Artur; Leito, Ivo (2019). Ionization efficiency ladders as tools for choosing ionization mode and solvent in liquid chromatography/ mass spectrometry. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry: RCM, 33 (23), 1834–1843. 10.1002/rcm.8545.
- III Gornischeff, Artur; Kruve, Anneli; Rebane, Riin (2020). Characterization of wines with liquid chromatography electrospray ionization mass spectrometry: quantification of amino acids via ionization efficiency values. Journal of Chromatography A, 1620:461012, 1–7. 10.1016/j.chroma.2020.461012.

# Author's contribution

- Paper I: Main person responsible for planning and writing the manuscript. Performed all experimental work.
- Paper II: Performed part of the experimental work. Participated in the writing of the manuscript.
- Paper III: Main person responsible for planning and writing the manuscript. Performed all experimental work.

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

AQC	6-aminoquinolyl-N-hydroxysuccinimidyl carbamate	
CID	collision-induced dissociation	
DEEMM	diethyl ethoxymethylenemalonate	
ESI	electrospray ionization	
Ezfaast	reagent kit name for propyl chloroformate (PrCl)	
HPLC	high performance liquid chromatography	
IE	ionization efficiency	
LC	liquid chromatography	
LC/ESI/MS	liquid chromatography electrospray ionization mass spectro- metry	
LC/ESI/MS/MS	liquid chromatography electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry	
LC/FL	liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection	
LC/UV	liquid chromatography with ultraviolet detection	
LoD	limit of detection	
logIE	logarithm of ionization efficiency value in positive ion scan	
-	mode (also $logIE_{scan}$ )	
$\log RF_{MRM}$	logarithm of response factor in MRM mode	
MS	mass spectrometry	
MS1	first mass analyzer in tandem mass spectrometry	
$MS^n$	multi-stage mass spectrometry	
PrCl	propyl chloroformate	
RF	response factor	

# INTRODUCTION

Liquid chromatography electrospray ionization (tandem) mass spectrometry (LC/ESI/MS/MS) in combination with derivatization has been a versatile and powerful tool for analyzing amino acids in many different matrices nearly 30 years for now. The backbone of accurate quantitation in LC/MS is the use of standard substances, since ionization efficiency (IE), i.e. to what extent different compounds ionize in the MS source, vary over several magnitudes. This is also why the aspects of IE have been thoroughly studied over the past ten years.

There is no absolute scale available for IE, but there is a relative logarithmic scale of IE-s (log*IE*) that has been developed into a practical tool for better characterization of different compounds and their IEs. These scales, which are measured in constant system, line up compounds according to their ability to generate gas-phase ions in the source. Values of *IE* for different compounds are anchored to reference compound, which gives practical way of comparing their ionization efficiencies.

Until now, majority of IE research has been related to non-targeted analysis, where no preselection of compounds is made, when screening analysis are performed. However, from the practical point of view, it would be beneficial, if measured (or predicted) log*IE* values could be used for estimating concentration also in targeted analysis. More importantly, since most practical applications are using MS/MS systems, since it provides much lower detection limits and enhanced selectivity, a quantitation based on the log*IE* values in the MS/MS would be beneficial. Essentially, this would give a possibility to measure hundreds of compounds without the use of standard substances.

Therefore, the aim of my doctoral thesis is to provide a standard substance free quantitation for targeted analysis using signal response factors (RF) from MS/MS. In order to develop such an approach, analysis of amino acids through derivatization is chosen as the model analysis. The reasons being that analysis on amino acids in various matrices are constantly used for different applications and therefore this approach would be applicable to fields from food to medical research. In addition, the use of derivatization reagent allows to somewhat control the structure of a molecule which is crucial for such a new approach.

In order to achieve the aim of this thesis, firstly, the method for measuring log*IE* of derivatives have to be developed that would take into account the aspects of LC/MS analysis and secondly, fragmentation patterns of different derivatized amino acids need to be examined to see if it would be possible to estimate response factors from MS/MS. The final goal of the thesis is to apply obtained log*IE* and log*RF* values of derivatized compounds for estimating concentrations in beer, wine and tea. This would be highly beneficial to estimate analyte concentration in the sample in very low concentrations and compare beverages and their origin without using standard substances.

# **REVIEW OF LITERATURE**

## LC/ESI/MS/(MS) analysis

Liquid chromatography (LC) coupled with mass spectrometry (MS) is a widely used analytical technique to quantitatively analyze different substances like amino acids, biogenic amines, pharmaceuticals etc. LC/MS provides low quantitation limits, structural elucidation and quite fast selective analysis compared to amino acid analyzers.<sup>1</sup> It is very common to use tandem MS (MS/MS) system for quantitative and qualitative analysis, since with MS/MS more sensitive and selective results are obtained. It involves two mass analyzers in conjugation with dissociation process, which changes the mass of an ion from first mass analyzer.<sup>2</sup> In general, one can choose between non-targeted (MS) and targeted (suspect) (MS/MS) screening when combing LC with MS. With MS, only a molecular mass (mass to charge ratio) of an analyte can be seen. On the other hand, it gives a possibility to scan for existence of large amount of different suspect compounds and gives a lot of information about the sample. In comparison, when MS/MS experiment is run, preselected ions from MS1 can be isolated, fragmented and detected in MS2, which gives more information about the molecular structure of the analytes and could identify the analyte more precisely. MS/MS also provides much lover limits of detection (LoD). The most used tandem MS system is triple quadrupole mass spectrometry, which consists of three consecutives quadrupoles, from which first is mass analyzer (Q1), second (Q2) is used for fragmenting the ions selected by the first mass analyzer and the third quadrupole (Q3) is mass analyzer for detecting ions generated in collision quadrupole. Hence the name – QqQ, or triple quadrupole.

In general, for LC/MS/(MS) analysis, standard substances are used for constructing calibration graphs to quantitatively measure concentration of analytes in question.<sup>3-5</sup> One of the biggest problems when developing the LC/MS/ MS method for analyzing different analytes, including food authentication studies, is that the methods and models developed in one laboratory are not directly applicable in another laboratory.<sup>6</sup> This complication comes from the fact that authentication relies both on the compounds and their amounts present in the sample. Signal responses for analytes are not directly comparable between analytes and devices, since they give orders of magnitudes different signal intensities and different systems (devices) might give different response due to the structure of the device.<sup>7</sup> In case of the suspect, targeted and non-targeted screening, this is solved by comparing peak areas of the standard substances with analyte's peak areas from chromatograms to characterize the quantity of the compound.<sup>8,9</sup>

LC/MS is a powerful complex measurement system and many aspects should be considered before starting an analysis. Maybe one the most complex part of LC/MS analysis, when considering targeted or non-targeted analysis, is the link between LC and MS – the ion source – where analytes leaving the LC are directed into MS.

## Ion source and ionization efficiency

A key prerequisite for MS experiments is the conversion of condensed-phase species into gaseous ions, which can be then transported into MS. This is usually done in the ion source. Among all different ion-sources, electrospray ionization (ESI) is most commonly used with LC/MS where solution-phased analytes are converted into gas-phase ions. It has several advantages like compatibility with LC, soft ionization and virtual absence of restrictions on the molecular mass.<sup>10–12</sup>

The exact mechanism of ESI is still a matter of debate and research remains active.<sup>7,11</sup> In ESI, analyte solution from LC is infused into capillary which holds electric potential about 2-5 kV and charged droplets of an analyte in the solution are generated through ion evaporation model (IEM).<sup>13-17</sup> This applies to small molecules (<1500 Da). In the case of large molecules, e.g. biomolecules, charge residue model (CRM) is used.<sup>16</sup> For IEM, schematic presentation is given in **Figure 1**. Both models are currently recognized.



Figure 1. Schematic of the electrospray ionization process. Reprinted from ref<sup>18</sup>.

Manufacturers have different ion sources which could lead to different ionization capabilities and substances with different properties could have different ionization efficiencies. Regards to ESI source, many configurations exist – different geometry and possibility of using extra drying gas are available. The influence of the source design and configuration has been previously studied to conclude that source design could have an important influence on the IE.<sup>7,12,19–22</sup>

Besides ESI, atmospheric-pressure chemical ionization (APCI) source is also used, mostly for small and low polarity molecules. It is an ionization method, where gaseous charged ions are generated by corona discharge on a solvent spray to produce generally monocharged ions.<sup>2</sup> Its working principle is schematically shown on **Figure 2**.



Figure 2. Schematic of the APCI process. Reprinted from ref<sup>2</sup>.

Differently from ESI, in APCI, analytes do not have to be charged in a solution, but ionization takes place in gas phase. This is advantageous to generate ions from neutrals, which generally have low or medium polarity and are not charged in a solution. While the ionization occurs at atmospheric pressure with high collision frequency, which in turn thermalize the reactant species, rapid desolvatation reduce thermal decomposition of the analyte to produce predominantly molecular ions with very few source-fragmentation.<sup>2</sup> For both ionization methods, either positive ion mode via protonation or negative ion mode via deprotonation can be used.

#### Ionization

It is known that several factors influence the (electrospray) ionization process, such as analyte structure, solvent composition (pH, organic modifier type and content, buffer type), ion source parameters and design.<sup>19,20,23–26</sup> Hermans et al.<sup>23</sup> have shown that different physicochemical parameters like hydrophobicity, surface activity, molecular volume, and pK<sub>a</sub> are affecting ESI efficiency in case of amino acids. Since these parameters are all related to each other, they showed

that molecular volume contributes the most affecting ionization, but pH and proton affinity may also affect ESI efficiency.

Liigand et al.<sup>7,25</sup> studied effects of mobile phase and the change of instruments on ionization. They concluded that in general, higher percentage of organic modifier enhances the ionization and that different instruments tend to change ionization in the same way, but errors between different instruments could be statistically significant for the same set of compounds. Kostiainen and Kauppila<sup>24</sup> reviewed different effects of eluent composition on the ionization. The review included comparison of solvents, additives and their pH which influence ionization in a different way for acidic or basic analytes. They included three source – ESI, APCI and APPI (atmospheric-pressure photoionization) – and compared their positive and negative mode ionization through changing parameters in eluent composition. They concluded that all three sources should be dealt with separately, as changing conditions could have diverse or enormous effects on ionization.

All these variables constitute to the term known as ionization efficiency (IE). It describes to what extent gas-phase ions are formed in the ESI source from the analyte molecules in a solution. Consequently, different analytes can have different IE when comparing their ionization in positive or negative ion mode.<sup>27</sup> Models have been created to predict IE on the basis of molecule structure which can take into account parameters of the molecule and eluent to predict IE.<sup>13,20,27–29</sup>

Ionization efficiencies of different compounds in ESI vary over several orders of magnitude and therefore it is not possible to compare and quantify compounds by simply evaluating their signal intensities.<sup>27</sup> Therefore, it would be beneficial, if there would be a universal IE scale which would give us more information about the IE of different molecules. This brings us to the log*IE* scale which tries to give IE some sort of a quantitative value.

# log/E scale

As seen from the previous chapter, ionization is influenced by many factors. To compare two analytes and their ionization, many system parameters should be the same for the measurements. In order to quantitatively describe to what extent different substances form ionized particles in ionization source, IE scales for different ionization modes and compounds have been created.<sup>27,29–32</sup> These scales are tools for comparing compound's ionization efficiencies to each other and give users guidelines for selecting the best conditions for detecting analytes in interest.<sup>33,34</sup> Most of the time, it could be assumed, that compounds having similar structure to those in the scale, ionization efficiency could be predicted for these compounds from the scale values. Usually, log*IE* values covered by these scales are usually constructed using relative values, because absolute log*IE* values are impossible to measure (we do not know a substance, which

would have IE of zero value). To make use of these values, all measured IEs should be linked to one compound e.g. anchored to an *anchor* substance to get relative ionization efficiencies (RIEs) for all the compounds in comparison to this anchor substance.<sup>30</sup>

Anchor substances which are usually used, have very high IE in order to anchor compounds to the scale and generate upper and lower limit of scale. Anchor compounds generally generate ions without any fragmentation or without forming Na-adducts and their ionization is reproducible, which allows to also anchor measured substances to the scale quite accurately.<sup>27</sup> IE scales are presented as logarithmic scale for easier presentation and analysis.

Knowing log*IE* values of different compounds, one has to measure only one compound from the scale as the standard to get reference point for this particular system. By then measuring analyte response and using its relative log*IE* value to this reference point, we can calculate concentration of an analyte. Knowing how good or poorly substance would ionize, i.e. knowing its log*IE* value, it would be possible to carry out quantitation without standard substances<sup>13,35–38</sup> or estimate the values of LoD<sup>39</sup>.

While in the beginning, the log*IE* scale was established in positive ESI mode, in recent years scales for negative mode, sodium-adducts and even for APCI source have been developed.<sup>29,31,32</sup>

#### Negative and positive ionization mode

Both ESI and APCI can give positive and negative ions, but positive ions are far more used and studied than negative mode. It is preferred, since more compounds, mainly basic analytes, form positive ions and have better IE in positive mode.

Positive ionization mode is mainly used for small molecules which are weak bases, hence easily protonated, like drugs.<sup>40</sup> For acidic functional group, which easily undergoes deprotonation, negative mode could also be used. Positive ionization mode is taking place via single or multiple protonation or adduct formation. In negative ionization mode, ions are generated via deprotonation, anion adduction or simultaneously via deprotonation and adduct formation with cations.<sup>18</sup>

In negative mode, same number or even more analytes have similar or even better IE compared to positive ion mode out of 33 compounds as shown by Liigand et al.<sup>33</sup> Major advantage for negative mode is lower background noise compared to positive mode, which also contributes to lower detection limits.<sup>18,41</sup> For direct comparison of ionization efficiencies and log*IE* values measured in positive and negative mode, Liigand et al<sup>33</sup> united these scales into a single system by using reference compounds which ionize to similar extent both in positive and negative mode.

While choosing ionization mode, one has to look, which molecular properties analyte has and usually, the choice of the working mode is done according to the analyte before analysis. For different modes, models have been created, which allows to estimate analyte's response in either mode according to molecular structure properties.<sup>29,35,36</sup> It is a need for making the best choice between an ionization mode, since it is shown, that IE of the same compound could be very different for compounds compared with positive or negative ion mode. It is also important for structure elucidation and that quantitative data would be more feasible by enhancing IE and lower the detection limits.

#### Adduct formation in ESI

It is generally known that both positive and negative modes give adducts. Adduct formation is a result of mobile phase additives, solvent impurities etc. and it would be beneficial to know why and to what extent adducts are formed in the source and how to control their formation. It is also possible, that adduct formation could affect ionization through (de)protonation. Adduct formation in ESI source is very common and several research papers have been written about the possible mechanisms and applications.<sup>18,31,42,43<sup>1</sup></sup> However, its exact mechanism is not precisely known and possibilities to control its extent in ESI source are limited.<sup>31,44</sup> Some attempts have been made to describe possibilities to predict, control and use adduct formation for real samples.<sup>31,45,46</sup> In most cases it has been shown that control of solvent composition seems to be the easiest way to keep adduct formation under control. Also, structure of the compound may influence formation of adducts. In some cases, it is shown that adduct formation gives much higher signal response compared to protonation and it is possible to use adducts for quantitative analysis.<sup>42,43</sup> That is why in some cases it is more reasonable to use adduct ions for determining analytes concentration instead of protonated form. Kruve et al<sup>31</sup> have also compiled self-consistent scale of sodium adducts and later described how mobile phase additives influence this scale.<sup>44</sup> They also showed that measurements in some cases could give reproducible results between day to day measurements which in turn gives future possibilities to draw conclusions and decide, if it is reasonable to use adducts for quantitative analysis or not.

On the other hand, it is generally believed that quantitation via protonation (or deprotonation) is more feasible, since adducts behavior is unexpected or unstable. Reproducibility of adduct formation could be very irreproducible due to the fact that different batches of organic solvents could have different amount of salt content. Also, interpretation of adduct MS/MS spectra is more complex for identification of compounds, since only fragment ion generated collision cell could be sodium ion, which do not give any specific information about the structure of a compound.<sup>47</sup> Solutions have been reported to control adduct formation like adding small amounts of ammonia or ion-pairing reagent to eluent to suppress the formation of adducts.<sup>47,50,51</sup> Du et al<sup>50</sup> provided rearrangement mechanism of the sodium adducts of fluorenylmethyloxycarbonyl-(FMOC) derivatized amino acids and came to a conclusion that during fragmentation of these adduct ions in MS/MS, elimination of amino acid part occurs and hydroxyl group of C-terminal was transferred to the FMOC group. Dziadosz et

al<sup>51</sup> have successfully used sodium-adduct fragmentation for quantitative analysis of  $\gamma$ -hydroxybutyrate in human serum.

#### **Fragmentation characteristics**

Fragmentation is a process, where previously ionized charged particle (precursor ion) from the ionization source is isolated and decomposed (spontaneously or as a result of some activation technique) in a collision cell into a new (another) charged particle (ion) or many particles and neutral fragment. A fragmentation reaction may be written as follows:

$$M_1^+ \to M_2^+ + M_3$$
 (Eq. 1)

Charged particle  $M_1^+$  will lose neutral fragment  $M_3$ , after what a new ion  $M_2^+$  with a new m/z is formed. Fragmentation usually occurs in tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS) and in the context of current work, we consider fragmentation only between two mass analyzers in a so-called collision cell. To clarify, fragmentation in different regions of mass spectrometer is possible. We can distinguish between source and triple quadrupole fragmentation. It could be possible, that when increasing cone voltage in the source, an ion can be energized in the transport region. This promotes collision between solvent and gas molecules and so-called in-source collision induced dissociation (CID) is induced. This will produce fragment ions in mass spectra which therefore gives overlapped spectra for all compounds, when analyzing mixtures of different analytes. This is undesirable and therefore chromatographic separation is preferred since otherwise interpreting spectra could be very difficult.<sup>52</sup>

Another fragmentation mechanism, which is also under study in this work, is CID in triple-quadrupole MS (MS/MS or QqQ). This is usually applied to preselected daughter ions, which are transported into second quadrupole acting as a collision cell where they are subjected to dissociation by collision gas. All fragments are scanned by the third quadrupole or only previously defined fragments are being isolated and detected.<sup>52</sup>

The identification of the compounds largely relies on the prediction of the fragmentation spectra of the compounds detected.<sup>53</sup> The fragmentation spectra are relatively characteristic to the compounds and often reveal important information about the functional groups of the compound.<sup>54–56</sup> Fragmentation is influenced by different molecular properties like charge location, amino acid side chain etc. Knowing how to interpret fragmentation information from MS2, gives a possibility for structure elucidation. The suspect screening relies on the identification of compounds with the aid of chemical libraries using fragmentation information from the spectra, while non-targeted screening aims at identifying compounds detected from the sample without preselecting compounds.<sup>57</sup>

Using MS/MS, different methods could be employed which give possibility to study fragments generated in different processes. Four main possibilities are product ion scan, precursor ion scan, neutral loss scan and selected reaction monitoring or multiple reaction monitoring.<sup>2</sup>

Product ion scan or daughter ion scan consists of selecting precursor ion produced in the source and determined all product ions which are generated from CID.

Precursor ion scan consists of choosing product ion in the second mass analyzer and scanning all parent ions which produce ions through reactions in collision quadrupole.

Neutral loss scan consists of scanning all reactions which lead to a loss of selected neutral fragment. In this case, two mass analyzers are scanned together with a constant mass offset.

Selected reaction monitoring (SRM) or multiple reaction monitoring (MRM – many different reactions are monitored simultaneously) consists of selecting specific fragmentation reaction. For this type of scan mode, first and second mass analyzers are set to measure only selected masses.

Every scanning mode has its own purpose, but what unites them all, is that they give some sort of structure elucidation information. Some modes are essentially used for quantitation purposes, as they allow lower quantitation limits and more selectivity when it comes to identifying different compounds. Lower LoD comes from the fact that only parent and fragment ions are selected, which significantly lowers background noise. Examples of drawbacks of fixed position mass analyzers are lower flexibility and no possibilities to extract data after initial experiment.<sup>2</sup>

When it comes to fragmentation of derivatized compounds, many possibilities are available how derivatization reagents could change the fragmentation of derivates. To aid fragmentation and ease identification of MS/MS spectra, different special derivatization reagents have been designed as described below. Analysis of derivatives could lead to increased or decreased fragmentation, direct fragmentation to new bonds or enhance sensitivity and selectivity of the ionization process.<sup>58,59</sup>

## LC/ESI/MS analysis of amino acid derivatives

Amino acids are important group of analytes while they exist in food, are used to synthesize proteins in our bodies, and furthermore, they can be used to diagnose some diseases and confirm authenticity of origin of foodstuff.<sup>60–65</sup> Amino acids possess characteristic information about the origin of the food or beverage like beer, wine and tea which are amongst the most consumed beverages in the world. All these amino acids origin from the raw material of specific drink, e.g. cereal grain, grapes and plant leaves. The content of amino acids in beverages varies depending on geographic origin, year of production, crops used in production etc. giving them specific taste and properties. Therefore, screening of

amino acids, both targeted and non-targeted mode is becoming more and more popular in food authentication and fingerprinting studies.<sup>8,66-70</sup>

Biogenic amines are another important group of analytes. They are found in food (meat, dairy, fruits, seafood and fermented products),<sup>71</sup> and can cause severe health effects, when consumed over certain limit.<sup>72</sup> Ordonez et al<sup>73</sup> has given exhaustive overview about recent trends in the determination of biogenic amines in fermented beverages.

Due to the abovementioned reasons, it is necessary to analyze amino acids and biogenic amines in various matrices. These can be analyzed by different analytical techniques but are still foremost analyzed by LC/MS methods, mostly due to the low concentration of amino acids and biogenic amines in different samples. Regarding their small structure and low molecular mass, they have poor IEs as well as poor retention on the reversed phase liquid chromatography (RPLC). In order to increase retention and enhance detection (IE), derivatization can be used.<sup>3,74,75</sup> If coupled with a LC/MS method, detectability,<sup>76–79</sup> sensitivity and selectivity<sup>80,81</sup> of a method can be enhanced to reach desired LoD,<sup>82,83</sup> as well as the stability of the analyte and retention in chromatographic separation by RPLC.<sup>84,85</sup> Derivatization can also reduce matrix effects which may occur when co-eluting compounds originated from the samples are suppressing or enhancing the signal of the analyte.<sup>86</sup> By increasing the molecular weight on an analyte by derivatization, it is also possible to decrease background noise, since the background is generally lower in mass range.<sup>87</sup>

For analysis of amino acid derivatives, for years, it was popular to use ultraviolet (UV) and fluorescence (FL) detectors coupled with LC, and thus derivatization reagents were designed originally for FL and UV detection. But in recent years, amino acids are analyzed more with LC/MS/MS systems since these systems provide lower detection limits and provide more information in a form of m/z.

Derivatization can lead to many positive outcomes when coupled with LC/ MS analysis – it will stabilize the analyte, improve its retention time and peak shape in LC. Positive effects of derivatization regarding mass spectrometry detection are the following:

- Adding non-polar hydrophobic tag, ions are more readily going into gas phase, since they prefer droplet surface which gives higher response;<sup>88</sup>
- Introduces chargeable or easily ionizable moieties, which improve IE for neutral compounds;<sup>78,89</sup>
- Adding derivative moiety, it generates a bond between target compound and reagent that is easy to cleave in collision-induced dissociation (CID)<sup>58</sup> which in turn aid fragmentation for tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS);<sup>90</sup>
- Helps to improve structure elucidation studies, because only certain functional groups could be derivatized;<sup>58,91</sup>
- Extend linear dynamic range.<sup>92,93</sup>

For amino acid derivatization, different derivatization reagents have been used and many review articles have been written about the derivatization methods and derivatization reagents for LC/MS.<sup>87,90,94–96</sup> Also, some studies bring out positive and negative aspects of different derivatization reagents comparing their reaction time, selectivity, ease of use etc. Uutela et al<sup>63</sup> have shown that by comparing three reagents, FMOC- and propyl chloroformate- (PrCl) derivates show best chromatographic retention compared to butanol-derivates. Butanol reacts with carboxyl group instead and leaves amino group unmasked which reduce retention under chromatographic conditions. They also showed that PrCl showed less ion source fragmentation than FMOC and butanol and in case of FMOC and PrCl, sodium-adduct formation was common.

Lkhagva et al<sup>97</sup> compared different amine-derivatization methods for metabolites with LC/MS/MS. They showed that optimal pH for elution could be different for reagents and concluded that molecules having higher hydrophobicity (FMOC and Dabsyl) are beneficial to separate from interfering compounds in LC. They also compared IE to show that FMOC and Marfey's reagent have lower IE compared with Dansyl, Dabsyl and o-phthalaldehyde (OPA). Also, all reagents except OPA, showed constant fragment ion in MS/MS regardless of analyte structure, which indicate similar fragment loss for different compounds.

Rebane et al<sup>98</sup> have done an exhaustive comparison of derivatization procedure, repeatability, LC separation, LoQ, LoD etc to conclude that DEEMM is most suitable for amino acid analysis out of TAHS, FOSF, DNS and FMOC for LC/ESI/MS/MS. Oldekop et al<sup>99</sup> on the other hand studied derivatization reagents for LC/APCI/MS by the example of seven amino acid. They concluded that only FOSF is not suitable for APCI source out of DEEMM, DBEMM, DNS and FMOC. All reagents differ from each other by giving different matrix effects and sensitivity.

But there are also some derivatization reagents which are specially designed to have good properties for LC/MS/(MS) analysis. This means that the structure of the derivative should be suitable for MS detection, i.e. allows sensitive analysis in LC/MS and LC/MS/MS. Therefore, firstly, the derivate must be in its ionic form in the solution phase or be chargeable trough adduct formation in gas-phase reaction.<sup>18</sup> Secondly, it should have non-polar sidechain or region because these compounds could be easily separated in RPLC from salts and other interfering compounds that could suppress signal in an ion source.<sup>84</sup> And thirdly, derivatization reagent should carry chargeable fragment which will induce fragmentation efficiently upon CID and generate an intense and specific product ion for the sensitive MS/MS detection.<sup>84,87</sup>

All abovementioned properties are important for derivatization for LC/MS analysis and one should keep these in mind when making the choice between reagents. Derivatization reagents are studied for different applications and sometimes no difference is made while choosing reagent specially designed for UV, FL or MS detection, e.g. originally designed reagents could be used for MS detection.

#### **Derivatization reagents**

As mentioned above, for amino group derivatization, different reagents for different purposes have been previously studied by others. **Table 1** shows different reagents and suitability for analytes. There have been specially developed reagents for different detection types, e.g. UV, FL or MS detection. When reagent is specially design for MS/MS analysis, often simple fragmentation pattern is expected, like producing common fragment from reagent side for all analytes in questions. There are several examples, where m/z 177,1 or 171,0 yields from derivatized amino acids breaking reagent skeleton from molecular ion.

Reagent	Application	Specific fragment ion MS
Propyl chloroformate (PrCl) <sup>63</sup>	Amino acids	N/A
9-fluorenylmethyl chloroformate (FMOC) <sup>5,63,98,100</sup>	Amino acid	263,0
Dansyl chloride (DNS) <sup>98,101</sup>	Alcohols, amines, amino acids	252,0
Diethyl ethoxymethylenemalonate (DEEMM) <sup>3,79,102–104</sup>	Amino acids	N/A
2,5-dioxopyrrolidin-1-yl N- tri(pyrrolidino)phosphoranylideneamino carbamate (FOSF) <sup>98</sup>	Amino acids	298,0
p-N,N,N-trimethylammonioanilyl N'- hydroxysuccinimidyl carbamate iodide (TAHS)	Amino acids, amines	177,1
6-aminoquinolyl-N- hydroxysuccinimidyl carbamate (AccQ- Tag or AQC) <sup>106–109</sup>	Amino acids	171,0

 Table 1. Overview of the derivatization reagents for LC/MS/MS analysis.

Some of these reagents have been included in the standard amino acid analysis kits like 6-aminoquinolyl-N-hydroxysuccinimidyl carbamate (AQC) by Waters<sup>110</sup>, and propyl chloroformate by Phenomenex<sup>111</sup>, providing all the necessary materials for fast, economic and time-saving analysis of free amino acids. These kits include all the reagents, often standard calibration solutions, materials and some even chromatographic columns for reproducible results between different laboratories. There are kits for direct amino acid analysis with derivatization,<sup>112</sup> kits designed for use with LC/FL<sup>110</sup> and LC/UV<sup>113</sup> and kits designed for use with LC/MS/MS systems.<sup>111,114</sup>

Two reagents, that are extensively used in this study were diethyl ethoxymethylenemalonate, shortly DEEMM and 6-aminoquinolyl-N-hydroxysuccinimidyl carbamate (AQC). DEEMM has been tested for many aspects, including suitability for LC/MS/MS analysis, and several studies have been published.<sup>65,79,86,98,99,102,104</sup> It has many advantages like short reaction time, low LoD values, good chromatographic separation of the derivatives and wide linear range and compatibility with LC/ESI/MS method for separating and analyzing amino acids together with low matrix effects.<sup>79,98</sup> DEEMM has been used in several studies and in many matrixes, e.g. beer<sup>3</sup>, cheese<sup>115</sup>, honey<sup>65,79,116</sup> and wines<sup>117</sup>.

AQC is widely used for different applications ranging from human plasma samples to amino acid analysis in beverages.<sup>75,107,108,118,119</sup> Although it was originally designed for fluorescence detection,<sup>119,120</sup> more and more studies are published using it for MS detection in different matrixes like skin<sup>121</sup>, water<sup>122</sup> and tea<sup>118</sup>. Kabelova et al<sup>123,124</sup> have used AQC for determination of amino acids in cheeses from the Czech market with FL detection and for comparison of Czech and foreign beer brands with MS detection. Cizkova et al<sup>125</sup> have used AQC for determination of amino acids in beers. Fiechter et al<sup>126</sup> have used AQC reagent for free amino acid determination in wines.

For all these studies, standard substances were used to quantitatively measure amino acids in selected matrixes. One of the biggest time- and cost savings would be the elimination of standard substances from the analysis sequence which could be done using log*IE* values as described above to evaluate the concentrations of the analytes. For non-targeted scanning, log*IE* values can be used, but since most of the LC/MS experiments nowadays are run in MS/MS mode, there is a need to investigate if log*IE* values could be used to estimate response factor (RF) in MRM mode.

## Benefits of knowing RF values for MRM mode

Since LC/MS signal intensities are unrepresentative of the compound concentration, standard intensities for every compound are needed to compare it with analyte signal in real sample for concentration determination. This comes from the fact that compounds have very different IEs in ESI source and since peak areas, which is the main output of signal intensity (directly related to analyte concentration), are used to measure analyte concentration. To overcome the need of standard substance, we should know to what extent each compound is ionized. When using MS/MS for quantitation, it is also important to consider fragmentation pattern and its efficiency, since this determines how many ions finally reach to the detector.

In this doctoral thesis I try to provide a solution to use previously mentioned IE to eliminate the need of standard substance. This approach would take into account derivatization, ionization and fragmentation characteristics to estimate amino acid concentration in different beverages. This could be done by using the response factor (RF) values for analyte in MRM mode. RF in MRM mode is

an ion count measured as signal intensity by the third mass analyzer for each analyte and besides ionization, it also covers fragmentation efficiency.

However, since all  $\log IE$  measurements so far have been performed in the MS not in MS/MS systems<sup>30</sup> they cannot be directly applied to characterize the RF in the MRM mode, since MRM measurements also incorporates fragmentation which gives an extra variable that needs to be accounted for. Also, signal intensities in MS/MS are magnitudes of order lower than in MS, which automatically means that RF values are lower when anchored to the same compound as for log*IE* measurements in MS mode. This is due to the fact, that fewer ions reach the detector and cannot be compared to log*IE* values that are obtained on MS1 mode.

Though IE in ESI/MS has been thoroughly researched throughout the last decade,  $^{18,27,29-32,127}$  none of these studies focus on the IE of derivatized compounds. There have been some preliminary studies relating to IE of the derivatized compounds,  $^{26,82,128}$  but these results are not linked to the results of existing log*IE* scales. Furthermore, no attempts have been made to align different derivatized compounds into existing scales or tried to make self-consistence scale.

The practical advantage of this approach would be the possibility to perform targeted screening of compounds to authenticate and compare different beverages. Let's assume a wine producer wants to confirm whether particular batch of wine is within limits of quality. For that, he should evaluate amino acid concentrations or their ratios to each other in every batch they produce. To exactly determine analyte concentration in samples, he needs standard substances, but which is not time and cost effective. In order to overcome this problem, previously measured or estimated IE or RF values could be used to eliminate the need for standard substances. This will allow the producer to make estimation of analyte concentration with a certain error, which in many cases is actually satisfactory enough to make preliminary decisions about the quality of a product or further need of quantitative analysis.

# EXPERIMENTAL

#### **Chemicals and materials**

HPLC grade methanol (MeOH) and acetonitrile (MeCN) were obtained from Sigma Aldrich, Germany. Borate buffer was made from boric acid (Sigma-Aldrich) and sodium hydroxide (Sigma-Aldrich). Derivatization reagent DEEMM was purchased from Fluka, Germany, FMOC-Cl was from Aldrich. Other derivatization reagents were purchased as commercially available amino acid analysis kits from Phenomenex (EZ:faast<sup>TM</sup>, PN: KH0-7337)<sup>111</sup> and Waters (AccQ·Fluor<sup>TM</sup>, cat no. 186003836).<sup>110</sup>

The compounds included in the studies with DEEMM and FMOC were mainly amino acids but also some metabolites and amines. The list is following: Cadaverine, spermidine, histamine, normetanephrine, metanephrine, s-methyl-L-cysteine (selenocysteine, Sec), selenomethionine, histidine (His), tryptophan (Trp), arginine (Arg), proline (Pro), asparagine (Asn), aspartic acid (Asp), (Aminomethyl)phosphonic acid (AMPA), leucine (Leu), serine (Ser), phenyl-alanine (Phe), cysteine (Cys), glutamic acid (Glu), lysine (Lys), glutamine (Gln), isoleucine (Ile), methionine (Met), valine (Val) and threonine (Thr), altogether 25 compounds. All chemicals were purchased either from Sigma or Fluka and were with purity of 97 % or higher. For reference compound tetra-ethylammonium (Et<sub>4</sub>N<sup>+</sup>) perchlorate salt from Alfa-Aesar (USA) was used. For eluent composition studies, in-house synthesized<sup>86,129</sup> pure DEEMM- $\beta$ -Ala, DEEMM-Gly and DEEMM-Phe were used. Purity has been previously confirmed by LC/UV.<sup>130</sup>

Amino acid mixture from Phenomenex (part no. AL0-7500) with concentration 200 (2.0 x  $10^{-4}$  M) nmol/mL in ultra-pure water was used for measurements for log*IE* and log*RF*<sub>MRM</sub> with AQC, PrCl and DEEMM containing following amino acids: 1-methyl-histidine (1MHis), 3-methyl-histidine (3MHis),  $\alpha$ -Aminoadipic acid (Aaa),  $\alpha$ -Aminobutyric acid (Aba), alanine (Ala), arginine (Arg), asparagine (Asn), aspartic acid (Asp),  $\beta$ -Aminoisobutyric acid ( $\beta$ aib), Citrulline (Cit), Cystine (C-C), 4-Aminobutyric acid (Gaba), glycine (Gly), glutamic acid (Glu), glutamine (Gln), histidine (His), 4-Hydroxyproline (Hyp), isoleucine (Ile), leucine (Leu), lysine (Lys), methionine (Met), Ornithine (Orn), phenylalanine (Phe), proline (Pro), Sarcosine (Sar), serine (Ser), threonine (Thr), tryptophan (Trp), Tyrosine (Tyr) and valine (Val) altogether 30 compounds. For reference (anchor compound) compound tetraethylammonium (Et<sub>4</sub>N<sup>+</sup>) perchlorate salt from Alfa-Aesar (USA) was used.

For log*IE* measurements, 20 and 2 nmol/mL solutions were selected for scan mode measurements and 0.2 and 0.02 nmol/mL concentrations for log $RF_{MRM}$  measurements. For constructing calibration graphs to measure amino acid concentration in beverage samples following concentrations: 10, 5, 2, 1, 0.5, 0.2, 0.1 and 0.02 nmol/mL both in scan and MRM measurement mode. From these solutions six dilutions were injected for calibration graph (1, 1.25, 1.67, 2, 2.5, and 5-fold) by autosampler.

# Derivatization of amino acids

**DEEMM.** The procedure originally presented in reference<sup>79</sup> was used for derivatization, but volumes were reduced as in reference<sup>86</sup>. To 250  $\mu$ L of sample solution in a chromatographic vial, 375  $\mu$ L of DEEMM solution in methanol (1:50, 21.4 mg/L) and 875  $\mu$ L of borate buffer solution (0.75 M, pH = 9) were added. Vials were mixed moderately and were kept in the dark at room temperature and the analysis was carried out after 24 h. Solutions were kept in the autosampler at 4 °C until injection, but no longer than 48 h. Derivatization completeness was checked by looking for the *m*/*z* of the underivatized compound from the chromatograms of injected derivatives. In all cases the original compound peak was absent from chromatograms and derivatization yield is expected 100 %. Derivatization reaction is presented in **Figure 3**.

**Propyl chloroformate.** EZ:faast<sup>TM</sup> kit consists of derivatization reagent (propyl chloroformate, hereinafter referred as PrCl), internal standard solution, eluting medium (mixture of sodium hydroxide and n-propanol), washing solution (npropanol), organic solutions (I – chloroform; II – iso-octane) and amino acid standard mixture. Derivatization procedure including SPE was a little more complicated than other used reagents. Manufacturer procedure was followed. To 100  $\mu$ L of the sample 100  $\mu$ L of the internal standard solution was added. Mixture was pipetted through SPE tip into a syringe. 200  $\mu$ L of the washing solution was pipetted into sample preparation vial and then passed through SPE tip into a syringe. 200  $\mu$ L eluting medium was pipetted into sample preparation vial and then SPE was wetted and washed out into sampling vial from SPE tip. 50 µL of chloroform (including derivatization reagent) was added into sample preparation vial. Vial was vortexed for about 5-8 seconds. Vial was let to stand at least one minute and then vortexed again and let to stand one more minute. 100  $\mu$ L of iso-octane was added into a sample vial and vortexed for about 5 seconds. From the upper organic layer, 50 µL of the aliquot was transferred into autosampler vial and evaporated into dryness under nitrogen. Sample was redissolved in 0.1 % formic and methanol mixture (98:2). Derivatization reaction is presented in Figure 3.

**AQC.** AccQ·Fluor<sup>TM</sup> kit consists of AQC reagent (2,5-Dioxopyrrolidin-1-yl quinolin-6-ylcarbamate; 6-Aminoquinolyl-N-hydroxysuccinimidyl carbamate, hereinafter referred as AQC), acetonitrile for dissolving the reagent powder and 0.2 mM sodium borate buffer, pH 8.8. To a 70  $\mu$ L of borate buffer 10  $\mu$ L of sample was added, followed by 20  $\mu$ L of the derivatization reagent (10 mM in acetonitrile). Mixture was vortexed and heated for 10 minutes at 55 °C. Derivatization reaction is presented in **Figure 3**.

**FMOC-Cl.** The procedure from reference<sup>86</sup> was followed except reaction was ended with glycine, instead of histidine. To 300  $\mu$ L of sample, 300  $\mu$ L of borate buffer (0.75 M, pH 9) and 300  $\mu$ L of FMOC-Cl solution (1 mg/L in MeCN)

were added. Derivatization reaction was ended after 30 min by adding 300  $\mu$ L of glycine solution (8 mg/mL). Derivatization reaction is presented in **Figure 3**.



**Figure 3**. Reaction of amino acids with different derivatization reagents. a) DEEMM; b) AQC; c) PrCl; d) FMOC-Cl

## **LC-ESI-MS-MS conditions**

For separating derivatized compounds, the following gradient profile was used: 0 – 3 min, 2 %; 3 – 10 min, 2 – 100 %; 10–12 min, 100 % B. Component A was 0.1 % formic acid in water and component B was methanol. Flow rate was 0.4 mL/min, column temperature was 40 °C and 10  $\mu$ L of sample was injected. Agilent Zorbax C18 reversed phase column with dimensions 50x2.1 mm with particle size 1.8  $\mu$ m and with a corresponding pre-column with dimensions 5x2.1 mm from Agilent was used to separate compounds. The same method was applied to all compounds under investigation.

Studied compounds analyzed without derivatization were injected separately (one analyte per injection), since they have short retention times  $(0.32 - 0.79 \text{ min} \text{ for most compounds and } \sim 5.1 \text{ min} \text{ for tryptophan})$  and are therefore more prone to matrix effects from each other when injected together in a solution. Since without derivatization there are no additional compounds in the solvents, additional effects from other co-eluting components is not expected.

#### Automatic dilution

In the case of constructing calibration graphs in order to obtain slope values, derivatization was carried out in chromatographic vials as in ref<sup>86</sup>. Solution with the highest concentration was injected as prepared. All lower concentration points were prepared from the highest concentration solution by diluting them in the autosampler. Results showed that pooled standard deviation over both manual and automatic dilution measurements made on different days (n=2–3) was 0.05 log*IE* units when automatic dilution system was used.

#### Measuring effects of solvent composition in flow injection mode

For eluent composition effects, six different mobile phase compositions in flow injection mode were studied in isocratic mode:

1) 0% (v/v) of methanol and 100 % (v/v) 0.1 % formic acid in ultra-pure water

2) 20 % (v/v) of methanol and 80 % (v/v) 0.1 % formic acid in ultra-pure water

3) 40 % (v/v) of methanol and 60 % (v/v) 0.1 % formic acid in ultra-pure water 4) 60 % (v/v) of methanol and 40 % (v/v) 0.1 % formic acid in ultra-pure water

5) 80 % (v/v) of methanol and 20 % (v/v) 0.1 % formic acid in ultra-pure water

6) 100 % (v/v) of methanol and 0 % (v/v) 0.1 % formic acid in ultra-pure water Selection of compounds were also dissolved in respective mobile phase and injected with autosampler in flow injection analysis mode, to get respective solvent composition in the ESI source.

#### **Comparing different sets of conditions**

For comparing log*IE* values with previously obtained values published in the literature and in order to fit them in the existing log*IE* scales, method comparison measurements were carried out. During the same day, four different set of conditions were used to measure IE for different compounds in isocratic mode:

- 80 %(v/v) of methanol and 20 %(v/v) 0.1 % formic acid in ultra-pure water with chromatographic column
- 80 %(v/v) of acetonitrile and 20 %(v/v) 0.1 % formic acid in ultra-pure water without chromatographic column
- 80 %(v/v) of methanol and 20 %(v/v) 0.1 % formic acid in ultra-pure water without chromatographic column
- 80 %(v/v) of acetonitrile and 20 %(v/v) 0.1 % formic acid in ultra-pure water with chromatographic column

All dilutions for calibration graphs were made by autosampler.

# Instrumentation

The IE measurements were carried out with Agilent 6490 series Triple Quadrupole LC/MS system coupled with Agilent Jetstream ESI source and Agilent liquid chromatographic system 1290, which was equipped with inline degasser, binary pump, column heater (40 °C) and autosampler cooled to 4 °C. ESI source is equipped with additional sheath gas. In the context of the current work, we consider it as an ESI source.

Another Agilent 6495 series Triple Quadrupole LC/MS system coupled with Agilent liquid chromatographic system 1290 was used to measure only PrCl reagent. For instrumental control Agilent MassHunter Workstation Software LC/MS Data Acquisition (v. B.08.00) and for data analysis Qualitative Analysis (v. B.08.00) were used. As described above, gradient elution was used to separate derivatized compounds from reagents. The following MS parameters were used: scan from 50 to 600 m/z, capillary voltage 3000 V, nozzle voltage 1500 V, nebulizer gas pressure 20 psi, drying gas flow rate 14 L/min and temperature 250 °C, sheath gas flow rate 11 L/min and temperature 400 °C. All chromatograms were recorded as total ion chromatograms (TIC) (two scan segments and 200 ms per segment) and extracted ion chromatograms (EIC) were extracted by software.

For MS/MS fragmentation measurements product ion scan was used: MS2 was set to scan  $100 - [M_1+H]^+$ . Each precursor ion was scanned for 100 ms to produce 2.47 cycles per second. Collison energy parameters were set to use 6 steps from 5 to 30 V, with step size set to 5 V in case of DEEMM and 8 steps from 5 to 50 V, with step size set to 5V up to 30 V and additionally 40 and 50 V.

# Calculation of log/E and logRF values

#### logIE for derivatized amino acids

Ionization efficiencies were studied in the positive ion mode. Only single protonation was taken into account and in all cases doubly-charged and sodium adduct ions were neglected if detected (because only ionization via protonation is considered, similar as in<sup>27</sup>).

For every compound, a calibration curve was constructed from six concentration levels and the quantitative estimation of ionization efficiencies using slopes of calibration curves were evaluated using an approach described by Kruve et al.<sup>29</sup> Equation for the model is:

$$RIE(M_1/M_2) = \frac{R([M_1+H]^+)}{R([Et_4N]^+)} = \frac{slope([M_1+H]^+)}{slope([Et_4N]^+)}$$
(Eq. 2)

where *RIE* stands for relative IE,  $M_1$  stands for studied compound,  $Et_4N^+$  stands for tetraethylammonium and the slope of the analyte signal versus concentration is estimated via linear regression in the linear range of the signal-concentration plot. For better visualization of the data, logarithmic scale (log*IE*) was used as described by Leito et al.<sup>131</sup>

For anchoring the log*IE* values so that they would be comparable with previously published results,<sup>27</sup> every day  $Et_4N^+$  was also measured in order to have a reference point for the particular day and the following anchoring method was used:

$$\log IE = \log \left(\frac{slope([M_1+H]^+)}{slope([Et_4N]^+)}\right) + \log IE([Et_4N]^+)_{ref}$$
(Eq. 3)

where  $slope([Et_4N]^+)$  is slope value in respective set of conditions in particular day and  $logIE(Et_4N^+)_{ref}$  value is 3.95 in reference system.<sup>25,27</sup> All compounds were measured against the value obtained for  $Et_4N^+$  in respective measurement system.

#### Measuring relative response factor log*RF*<sub>MRM</sub> in MRM experiments

For AQC, MS/MS transition  $[M+H]^+ \rightarrow 171$  was used to calculate response factor as indicated in **Table 2.** Collision energy of 25 V generated product ion m/z 171 originating from the AQC reagent moiety for all amino acids. For DEEMM and PrCl several MRM transitions were used, and their responses were summed together for calculating the response factors. For DEEMM, three most abundant transitions from **Table 2** were used. Collision energy was set to 10 V, which generated most abundant product ion m/z [M+H-46]<sup>+</sup>. For PrCl, transitions from the manufacturer manual were selected.<sup>111</sup> Some common transitions are listed in Table 2 and all fragment ions for all amino acids are listed in Table S2 in appendix. Collision energy for PrCl was set to 5 V. Response factors  $\log RF_{MRM}$  in MRM mode were measured similarly to the  $\log IE_{scan}$  values. The values were anchored to the  $\log IE$  scale by using the calibration graph of Et<sub>4</sub>N<sup>+</sup> measured in the full scan mode:

$$\log RF_{MRM} = \log\left(\frac{slope([fragment]^+)}{slope([Et_4N]^+)}\right) + \log IE([Et_4N]^+)_{ref} \quad (Eq. 4)$$

**Table 2.** The fragments formed in fragmentation experiments from glycine derivate with DEEMM, AQC and PrCl.

C PrCl
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $

#### Analysis of wine, beer and tea samples

Five different wines from different regions of the world were selected from the supermarket. Selection was following: 1) Põltsamaa Kuldne, Sweet apple wine, 2009, Estonia; 2) Barton & Guestier, Merlot, 2017, France; 3) Massai, Pinotage, South Africa; 4) Robertson, Cabernet Sauvignon, 2017, South Africa and 5) Calvet, Cabernet Sauvignon, 2017, France.

Four different beers from Estonia were selected as following: 1) A.LeCoq Premium, Pale lager 2) lehe Sunrise at the Secret Beach, New England IPA, craft beer 3) Óllenaut Amber ale, craft beer and 4) Põhjala Pilky, Pilsner, craft beer.

From all samples 100-fold dilution was made in MilliQ water; samples were filtered through Millipore 0.22  $\mu$ m nylon membrane filter and further 10-fold dilution were made. Two samples from each wine and beer were obtained (100 and 1000-fold dilution) and derivatized with AQC reagent following the procedure described above.

Two tea samples were obtained as follows: 10 mL of Milli-Q was added to 0.25 g of tea sample and heated to 80 °C for 25 min. After that they were injected without dilution. Samples were Green tea (Ahmad Tea, London, Green Tea) and local chamomile tea (*Chamomilla recutita*).

# **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

Knowing IE values of different compounds, including derivates, gives a possibility to evaluate concentration of compounds of interest in different samples without standard substances. In order to get better knowledge about the ionization efficiencies of derivatized compounds, a log*IE* measurement method suitable for derivatization mixtures is needed. IE measurement method without chromatographic column used so far is not feasible, because derivatized sample contains more components than only analyte and solvent, e.g. buffer salts, derivatization reagent, side products etc.

The focus in this study is amino acids, which have poor or no retention in reversed phase (RP) LC. Compounds having no retention in LC will elute in the beginning of the chromatogram and could cause matrix effect (ME), while matrix compounds co-eluting with analytes could suppress or enhance analytical signal. To overcome this, derivatization is widely used for amino acids to give polar analytes more retention and separate them from matrix. Derivatization also changes signal intensities of analytes i.e. providing lower detection limits. This work presents results for IE scale measurements regarding the derivatized compounds, mainly amino acids, in scan mode and a method for applying these values to estimate the response factors in MRM mode for the same compounds. The main goals of the current thesis were:

- To develop a method for measuring log*IE* values for derivatized compounds (paper I).
- To measure the IEs of the derivatized compounds and to widen the scope of the existing IE scale<sup>27</sup> (paper I and III).
- To study correlation between log*IE* and log*Slope* values measured in flow-injection mode and in real LC/MS conditions (paper II).
- To study correlation of log*IE* values between positive and negative mode and Na-adducts (unpublished results).
- To study fragmentation characteristics for some of the derivatization reagent in MS/MS (paper III).
- To put measured values into practice and evaluate amino acid concentrations in different drinks (paper III).

# Method development of log*IE* measurement for derivatized amino acids (Paper I)

When developing a method for  $\log IE$  measurements of derivatized compounds, couple of aspects have to be kept in mind. Firstly, the original  $\log IE$  measuring approach which does not use chromatographic column and measures pure compounds one at the time<sup>29</sup> has to be modified because in case of derivatized compounds, the mixture obtained after derivatization contains also derivatization reagents, by-products, buffer components etc.<sup>116,132</sup> If these arrive in the

ionization source at the same time, i.e. are not separated with the chromatographic column, these compounds may generate matrix effects in the ion source leading to signal suppression (less often enhancement) in detector and influence the results.<sup>86</sup> Therefore, a chromatographic separation is necessary for measuring IE of derivatized compounds since different compounds need to be separated from each other chromatographically.

Secondly, solvent effect is one of the main concerns influencing ionization as discussed in literature overview. Until now, all log*IE* measurements have been made using a fixed solvent composition (80/20 acetonitrile/0.1 % formic acid<sup>27,29–31</sup>) without chromatography column (i.e. flow injection mode) and gradient elution. However, when using chromatographic column together with a gradient elution which is often necessary for analyzing derivatized compounds and is a common practice analyzing samples in real life, it is obvious that organic modifier content in the ionization source is different over the timespan of gradient elution and its exact content cannot be controlled at the time when an analyte reaches the ionization source. That is why it is a need to evaluate the effect of eluent composition on ionization.

And finally, taking all of this into account, it is necessary to evaluate the results and see, if there is a correlation with previously measured log*IE* results which are measured without column and also in different solvent compositions. To do that, it is necessary to anchor results obtained in this work to the previous log*IE* scales in order to get comparable results and also widen the scope of the previous scales.

To study the influence of these three effects, solvent composition and chromatographic method were studied. Results are discussed and compared in the following chapters.

# Setting up chromatographic analysis for derivatized amino

An important consideration while planning this work was that the obtained results should be comparable to the previously published  $\log IE$  scale.<sup>27,33</sup> Even though all previous measurements of  $\log IE$  have been made using acetonitrile instead of methanol, it was not possible to use this solvent for the measurements in this study since the used derivatization procedures have been developed using methanol.<sup>79</sup> Methanol is also cheaper, less toxic and more readily available in a long-term perspective for different applications. Due to this reason, different solvent composition studies, with and without a column, were carried out in order to compare the effects of different conditions on IE.

For estimating how different organic modifiers and the use of chromatographic column affect IE values, four different sets of conditions (methanol vs acetonitrile without a column and methanol vs acetonitrile with column) and a selection of compounds (histamine, threonine, glutamine,  $Et_4N^+$  and previously in-house synthesized pure DEEMM-Phe, DEEMM- $\beta$ -Ala and DEEMM-Gly) were chosen for comparative measurements. It was important to use pure compounds of derivatives as it was not possible to use derivatization mixtures without column due to the reasons described above.

Measurements were carried out during one day, keeping the MS conditions constant. All measurements were made using isocratic elution in order to only evaluate the effects originating from adding the chromatographic column or changing the organic phase of the eluent. Tetraethylammonium ( $\text{Et}_4 N^+$ ) was chosen as the reference (*anchor*) compound. Its IE is one of the highest and is most reliably (reproducibly) measured. It has also been used as a anchor compound in previous works.<sup>25</sup> For evaluation of the effects on IE when using different measurement conditions, all log*IE* values were anchored to log*IE* value (3.95) of  $\text{Et}_4 N^+$  80/20 acetonitrile and 0.1 % formic acid in ultrapure water.

Underivatized amino acid show 0.19 to 0.34 log*IE* unit change between different conditions (see graphical expression of results in **Figure 4**). Histidine is showing least variability and glutamine and threonine a little bit higher (0.33–0.34). For latter two, methanol shows best ionization and acetonitrile worst in flow injection mode. Considering the fact that pooled standard deviation for all log*IE* measurements for this work was 0.17 log*IE* units, the change for log*IE* for underivatized amino acids histidine, threonine, glutamine and  $Et_4N^+$  was not considerable.



Figure 4. logIE values of different compounds in different conditions.

On the other hand, when comparing the results for DEEMM-Phe, DEEMM- $\beta$ -Ala and DEEMM-Gly, there were clear differences between log*IE* values obtained with column and without column. Measurements with chromatographic separation gave up to 1.05 logIE units higher results compared to measurements without column. For methanol  $\log IE$  values were 0.66 to 0.78 and for acetonitrile 0.92 to 1.22 logIE units higher with column measurements when compared to measurements in flow-injection mode. One of the explanations could be that although these in-house synthesized DEEMM-derivatives were purified, there still might have been some co-eluting impurities which suppress the signal. Derivatives have retention times 6.5 to 8.2 min with chromatographic column and therefore it is more likely that the separation from possible impurities and other interfering compounds is achieved while in flow-injection they co-elute and cause matrix effects. Additionally, the effect could be related to the DEEMM-derivatives themselves since their structure and polarity is different from other compounds tested. It can be that for that reason they are more influenced by the changing conditions.

It could be concluded that if compounds have a considerable retention in RPLC, then one can assume higher ionization in the source due to less influence from possible impurities eluting with column dead time.

#### Solvent composition studies

When logIE values are measured with chromatographic column and a gradient elution is used, compounds have different retention times and therefore the composition of eluent is different in ionization source at different times i.e. not all compounds have the same eluent composition at the time of the ionization. In this work, the retention times of the compounds of interest were between 5.1 and 8.5 minutes and the organic component percentage in the mobile phase in ion source was between 25 % and 70 %(vol), depending on the retention time. Since IE is known to be influenced by the percentage of organic modifier,<sup>19,20,25,133</sup> it is important to investigate the impact of solvent composition when log*IE* values of derivatized compounds are measured. Although Kruve<sup>19</sup> has shown that in thermally focused ESI source IE is not influenced by the organic solvent content as much compared to the conventional source in negative ion mode, it is generally known, that higher organic modifier content in eluent composition usually give higher IE values.<sup>25</sup> That is why the solvent composition was still studied in this work for positive mode. Besides, Liigand et al' have shown that different ion source designs could have different effect on IE, what regards experimental setups and that span of the logIE scale could be different on different instruments.

To investigate eluent composition influence, analyses of some underivatized and derivatized amino acids at different eluent compositions were studied. This cannot be done with a column and therefore these experiments had to be carried out with flow injection analysis in order to control the eluent composition for compounds. This study included different DEEMM-derivatives (DEEMM- $\beta$ -Ala, DEMM-Gly, DEEMM-Phe), some amino acids in underivatized form (arginine, leucine, phenylalanine) and Et<sub>4</sub>N<sup>+</sup> at different organic (methanol) phase percentages (0, 20, 40, 60, 80 and 100 %(vol)).

For each compound, six concentration points were injected, calibration curves were constructed and finally log*IE*s were calculated. Results show (**Figure 5**) that when the mobile phase was 100 % of organic solvent, then the IE of all the compounds differ from those obtained with any other mobile phase compositions. In this case, no acidic additives were added to the mobile phase, therefore, the acidity of the solvent is lower and weak bases are expected to be protonated to a smaller extent.

Slopes of the calibration curves were also compared by a *t*-test. Results showed that the slopes of calibration curves obtained with different organic phases have some differences, but slopes corresponding to more similar organic phases have also more similar slope values. Results showed that for derivatized compounds and for  $\text{Et}_4\text{N}^+$ , IE differs from other compositions when eluent composition was 0 % organic phase. In most cases, change of methanol concentration from 20 to 80 % does not influence the IE and since previous log*IE* scales are constructed at 80 % acetonitrile, it reassures that the IE scales constructed using a new method proposed in this work with a chromatographic column are comparable to previously obtained ones without any correction.



**Figure 5**. log*IE* values of different compounds on different organic modifier content relative to Et4N+ in 80 % MeCN and 20 % 0.1 % formic acid.

However, in current work, a model of the impact of the organic solvent content on IE could be derived for positive mode. 100 % organic modifier composition was left out from the calculation due to very large deviation and since different compounds do not agree well in this high organic percentage region. Considering, that only a small constant effect on IE occurred with change in organic modifier content, we fitted a quadratic function (**Figure 6**) between the average change in log*IE* (across all compounds) relative to mobile phase with 80 % of methanol as an organic modifier content. The following model was obtained:

$$\Delta \log IE_{x-80\%} = 1.03 \times 10^{-2} org\% - 9.62 \times 10^{-5} org\%^2 - 0.198$$
 (Eq. 5)

Figure 6 shows that in average, IE is highest at about 55 % of organic modifier and lowest at 0 % of organic modifier. On the other hand, in the region of organic solvent content 0 % to 80 %, the solvent effect on IE is relatively small for all compounds.

The most comprehensive IE scales published so far are measured in 80/20 organic solvent/water phase mixture.<sup>27</sup> Therefore, to allow comparability to those published values it was best to recalculate all values measured under chromatographic conditions to 80 % of organic modifier.

As it is known, different ionization sources are somewhat differently influenced by the mobile phase content. For example, the influence is larger in case of conventional nebulizer without thermal focusing. The model together with mathematical coefficients cannot be directly applied on a different system for estimating organic modifier influence on IE, however, the approach itself can, because as described, different system could affect IE to a different extent.



Figure 6. Quadratic fit between the average change in log*IE* relative to mobile phase with 80 % of methanol and organic modifier content.

# Influence of derivatization on amino acid ionization efficiency

All measured log*IE* values were anchored to previously published results and are relative to methyl benzoate (log*IE* taken as 0) using one-point anchoring to the log*IE* value of tetraethylammonium 3.95. This anchoring enables direct comparison of the results obtained in current work to the previously published scales.

Firstly,  $\log IE$  values of the underivatized amino acids measured in this work with column were compared to the previously published  $\log IE$  values of amino acids measured in our group.<sup>33</sup> These results were measured in solvent composition 80/20 acetonitrile and 0.1 % formic acid in ultrapure water and without column. Correlation between the two scales ( $R^2$ =0.62 and root mean square error 0.60 excluding cysteine and histidine) for underivatized compounds is within the limits of transferability between different systems (0.24–0.74 log*IE* units) observed previously for log*IE* measurements carried out on different instruments.<sup>7</sup> Additionally, the solvent system used in this and in previous study were different.

Secondly,  $\log IE$  values of 24 derivatized and underivatized compounds were compared (**Table 3, Figure 7** and **Table S1**). As seen in the previous chapter, during the gradient elution, organic mobile phase content is increasing and in general this also increases IE. To consider the fact that every compound elutes at different organic phase concentration, abovementioned modelling was applied to scale the  $\log IE$  values into a reference solvent system (80/20 acetonitrile and 0.1 % formic acid in ultrapure water). This was done by using retention time of each derivatized and underivatized compound. This allows us to differentiate between the IE change due to (1) derivatization and (2) change in elution mobile phase content.
	Unde	rivatized	Derivat	ized with	
	(n=3,	s=0.09)	DEEMM (	n=3, s=0.05)	
Compound name	logIE	Retention	logIE	Retention	Difference,
		time, min		time, min	abs.
AMPA*	0.22	0.40	2.66	5.5	2.44
Asparagine	0.95	0.38	2.21	6.1	1.26
Aspartic acid	0.98	0.38	2.73	6.5	1.75
Histamine*	1.80	0.33	3.23	5.7	1.43
Cysteine	2.16	0.42	1.85	7.3	-0.31
Serine	2.17	0.41	2.87	6.3	0.70
Histidine	2.22	0.35	3.41	5.6	1.19
Proline	2.24	0.41	2.16	7.1	-0.08
Selenocysteine	2.28	0.46	3.41	7.5	1.13
Spermidine*	2.31	0.33	2.68	5.1	0.37
Threonine	2.47	0.42	3.08	6.7	0.60
Glutamine	2.51	0.42	3.02	6.3	0.51
Arginine	2.57	0.36	3.18	5.8	0.62
Lysine	2.58	0.37	3.55	8.5	0.97
Selenomethionine	2.60	0.77	3.03	8.2	0.43
Tryptophan	2.61	5.07	3.45	8.1	0.83
Glutamic acid	2.69	0.42	3.16	6.7	0.47
Valine	2.75	0.42	3.23	8.1	0.48
Methionine	3.10	0.44	3.39	8.0	0.29
Normetanephrine*	3.11	0.62	2.76	7.3	-0.35
Isoleucine	3.22	0.42	3.31	8.5	0.09
Leucine	3.27	0.40	3.42	8.5	0.15
Metanephrine*	3.60	0.81	2.87	7.3	-0.74
Phenylalanine	3.61	0.40	3.28	8.3	-0.33

**Table 3.** Comparison of log IE values between underivatized compounds and DEEMM-<br/>derivatized compounds in 80/20 acetonitrile and 0.1 % formic acid in ultrapure water

\*not amino acid



**Figure 7**. Comparison of log*IE* values between underivatized and DEEMM-derivatized compounds in 80/20 acetonitrile and 0.1 % formic acid in ultrapure water.

In most cases, derivatization improves ionization and gives more similar IE values for different compounds meaning that derivatization compresses the IE scale. The range of log*IE* values observed for underivatized compounds was 3.4 log*IE* units, while for derivatized compounds it was only 1.7 log*IE* units. This means that for underivatized compounds, the sensitivity varies almost 2500 times but for derivatized compounds only 50 times. This difference also proved to be statistically significant with *t*-test. This can be explained by the fact that derivatization with DEEMM adds similar molecular moiety to each amino acid which is most likely responsible for ionization. It also increases molecular hydrophobicity which in turn helps molecule to move closer to the droplet surface and further into gas phase. DEEMM adds molecule weight and it is believed generally, that larger molecule has better stabilization in the gas phase than small one. Considering the fact that DEEMM itself, though, has not very high IE, as stated by Rebane et al,<sup>32</sup> and taking into account different retention times of derivatized compounds, derivatization increased IE as expected.

In average, the rise in  $\log IE$  was 0.9 units when comparing derivatized compounds with underivatized ones. Lowest increase was observed for proline, isoleucine, leucine and methionine whose  $\log IE$  value changed only -0.08 – 0.29 logarithmic units. Spermidine, valine, glutamine and other several compounds (up to lysine) had IE rise due to derivatization about 0.37 – 0.97 log *IE* units. Highest increase was for compounds such as selenocysteine, histidine, asparagine, aspartic acid, histamine and AMPA. The latter one had 2.4 log *IE* units higher IE compared to underivatized form. It could be the reason that AMPA has phosphonic acid group in molecular structure and this rather ionizes in negative mode, via deprotonation, than in positive mode.<sup>134,135</sup>

Results show that largest changes are for molecules that either have low IE without derivatization (AMPA, Asp, Asn) or include imidazole sidechain (His and histamine) which could be the reason for such a high rise in IE. On the other hand, derivatization did not change IE to such an extent for molecules that already have quite high IE without derivatization, e.g. metanephrine, normetanephrine, phenylalanine, leucine and isoleucine. First three also have higher molecular weight compared to other studied compounds, which gives molecule better ionization properties. Proline and cysteine have both quite low IE and one could assume their IE rise after derivatization, but quite the opposite, derivatization lowers IE. This phenomenon could be explained by the fact that they have poorer derivatization properties. It has been shown that DEEMM-Pro has higher detection limits compared to other amino acids.<sup>98</sup>

To conclude, results show that in general, after modelling the results into comparable scales (considering the mobile phase differences in gradient elution mode) one can see, that derivatization increases IE. Additionally, results obtained in different IE measuring systems could be compared to each other.

## Using log/E to predict sensitivity for LC/MS analysis (Paper II)

As already discussed, many things influence IE value of a compound in the ionization source and different sources could have different IE. Also, for sources like ESI or APCI, LC conditions could be vastly different, which in turn may influence signal intensities in LC/MS. Therefore, it is of interest to see if measured log*IE* values measured in flow-injection mode would correlate with calibration graph slopes obtained under LC gradient conditions. A high correlation would indicate that the determined log*IE* values can be used for predicting the sensitivity in LC/MS analysis.

For the comparison, the slopes of the calibration graphs measured with a gradient elution were expressed as  $\log Slope$  and they were plotted against  $\log IE$  values. It is seen from **Figure 8a**, that  $\log Slope$  vs  $\log IE$  in the case of ESI source,  $\log IE$  values are useful in predicting sensitivities ( $R^2$  values 0.7 and 0.8) for chromatographic elution. Despite the fact, that solvent composition in the source is different when measured with chromatographic column and that good correlation has been showed between  $\log IE$  and organic modifier content,<sup>136</sup> log IEs were not influenced show much in this case. As shown by Kruve,<sup>137</sup> it might be due to the fact that ESI source with additional sheath gas was used, like ESI Agilent JetStream. This type of source is also used in this work, considered as ESI source, and it is believed to dry effluent much faster, which reduces effect of organic modifier content.

On the other hand, in the case of the APCI source, the log*IE* values are not useful for predicting sensitivity in LC/MS analysis ( $R^2$  values around 0.4) as seen in **Figure 8b**. This may result from a number of factors. Firstly, APCI ionization process may be much more complicated what regards the organic solvent content and secondly, the influence of APCI source design may have an effect, as the log*IE* and log*Slope* values have been measured on different instruments. This also means that when designing a derivatization reagent suitable for ESI/MS or APCI/MS detection, then the log*IE* values measured in one solvent system with flow injection can be used as a useful guidelines for possible structures of the reagents and will be relevant for real LC/MS conditions when ESI source is used.



Figure 8. Correlation of logIE and logSlope values in case of a) ESI and b) APCI.

## Sodium-adduct formation and negative mode ionization efficiency

It was also under interest to measure IE in negative mode and using Na-adduct information besides protonation since these have been less investigated and could provide interesting insight to the IE mechanisms. In some cases, it has been shown, that some compounds give higher signal intensities in negative ion mode or using sodium-adducts, although probably some experimental conditions like solvent pH or sodium content should be modified according-ly.<sup>29,33,98,138</sup> In addition, there are applications where adducts and negative ions are used for quantitation purposes.<sup>51,139,140</sup> It is also interesting to see how (and if) ionization efficiencies in negative and positive mode and sodium-adduct correlates to each other. DEEMM-, AQC-, FMOC- and PrCl derivates were selected for comparison since these have been used the most in various applications.

Alongside positive ion scan mode, negative ion scan was also studied alternating positive and negative in short timespan in the source. This allowed to gather data for both ionization modes. Although in this study special modifications were not made for negative mode, like using basic eluent composition (ammonia solution), the aim was to see if, and to what extent, negative ions will generate from derivatized compounds and how (if at all) they correlate to positive mode ionization.

In case of **DEEMM**-derivates, it was seen, that in negative and positive ion mode intensities of signal responses in scan mode were in the same order of magnitude and differ only marginally. DEEMM sodium-adducts showed  $\sim 1.5$  times lower abundance than positive ion mode, which confirm the fact that they could possibly be used for quantitation purposes in case of a controlled eluent composition. Although sodium-adducts and protonation both showed similar

intensities, there was no correlation between them whatsoever. This also apply for positive vs negative ion mode and negative ion mode vs sodium-adduct, which means that mechanisms of generation of adducts is unpredictable under given conditions.

For AQC-derivates, Na-adduct ions were observed in all cases, along with  $[M+H]^+$  in mass spectra. Inversely to DEEMM, Na-adduct showed very low, about 22 times lower signal intensities compared to positive ion mode. It could be explained, that AQC moiety includes easily chargeable nitrogen in its structure, which allows weak Na-adduct formation. In negative ion mode, signal intensities were about 15 times lower than in positive ion mode. Similarly, as for DEEMM, no correlation between Na-adduct vs positive mode were noticed. This also apply for positive vs negative ion mode and negative ion mode vs sodium-adduct, which means that mechanisms of generation of adducts is unpredictable under given conditions.

FMOC gave average about four times higher signal intensities for Naadducts compared to singly protonated form, which could be explained by the effect of chloroformate ester group existing in its moiety forming carbamate group when reacting with amino acids. Carbamate group is very attractive for forming ion-dipole with Na<sup>+</sup>, since oxygen atoms are as a rule more negative than nitrogen. This part of a derivate most probably compete with protonation mechanism. And it has been seen in the literature, that analytes containing carbamates, yielding sodium adducts is common, which also supports this theory. Negative ion mode for FMOC-derivates gave lowest signal intensities compared to Na-adducts and singly protonated form, which could be explained by the use of acidic eluent, and generation of positively charged particles are far more favorable than negative ion formation in such medium. It was seen that in negative mode, average signal intensities were about five times lower than in positive mode and ~21 times lower than Na-adducts signal intensities. Although FMOC-derivatized amino acids have been used for quantitation in MRM negative ion mode,<sup>5</sup> it wouldn't be optimal case under conditions in this work due to low signal intensity. In case of FMOC-derivates, no correlation between negative-positive, Na-adduct-positive nor negative-Na-adduct formation were found.

In case of **PrCl**, Na-adducts were observed in all cases and their intensities were average two times higher compared to protonated form in positive ion mode. Very weak correlation between Na-adducts and protonated form were observed ( $R^2$ =0,52). That might be explained by the fact that Na-adducts are not competing to the same site within the molecule as proton, which give equal opportunities for generation of both protonated and Na-adduct form. Interestingly, no signal intensities were observed for PrCl in any case. This could be explained with the fact, that PrCl is the only reagent out of these four, which reacted both amino and carboxy group of the amino acid, eliminating easily deprotonating site.

As seen from the results, negative ion mode and Na-adduct formation need special method development to have best conditions for using these measurements modes. For current studies, it is best to use singly protonated forms to evaluate log*IE* values, since current compounds under study gave less predictable values for Na-adducts and in negative ion mode, which cannot be used for prediction of log*IE*.

In general, results of studies concluded, that mechanisms of formation of sodium-adducts and deprotonation do not correlate to each other and probably complicated mechanisms are involved, which give no universal possibilities for practical use.

#### Measurements in MRM mode

Majority of the suspect and non-targeted analysis data are collected in the datadependent or data-independent mode that is run alongside scan mode. MS/MS is widely used for different application like structure elucidation and quantitation of environmentally hazardous trace substances in very low concentrations. MS/MS provides a lot more information about the structure of the compounds and has lower quantitation limits; therefore, it is of need to make standard substance-free quantification possible also for methods utilizing MS/MS data accusation modes.

As seen in previous chapters, when using scan mode for screening, solely ionization in ESI source could be complicated and sometimes unpredictable process. If we add extra dimension to that, which would be MS/MS together with fragmentation, things can get even more complicated. In addition to variation of IEs in orders of magnitude in case of different compounds, those ionized particles could each fragment in their own way depending on their properties. Fortunately, it could be assumed already before experiments that similarities in fragmentation patterns could be seen, when using one type of derivatization reagent, which should ease interpretation of results.

Derivatization of analytes with different reagents could produce different fragmentation patterns in MS/MS. Some reagents fragment only by breaking off small functional group (in case of DEEMM, PrCl), some break between reagent and the target analyte and yield reagent-specific product ion (in case of AQC), when used in MS/MS experiments. The latter fragmentation pathway gives easier and simpler quantitation opportunities, since fragmented product ion is also most abundant one since almost no other fragmentation, if all, is taking place which is straightforward for selecting precursor and product ions.

To measure response factors of derivatized compounds after ionization and fragmentation in MS/MS, some fragmentation-related aspects should be considered. Firstly, it is necessary to know fragmentation pattern of compounds and secondly, its relation to collision energy which is applied to ionized molecule leaving from ionization source and isolated in MS1. Appling correct fragmentation energy on molecular ion and selecting correct fragment ion(s) for quantitation are important prerequisite for correct analytical determination. Besides, instruments from different manufacturers could have differences in optimal

system parameters with the same value due to the constructional peculiarities. In this work, fragmentation patterns for amino acids derivatized with different reagents were studied. This also covered changing fragmentation energy to see, which fragments are formed in MS/MS system.

The outcome of these studies should indicate if IE values measured in the scan mode could be used to estimate the response of the derivatized amino acids analyzed with LC/ESI/MS/MS. DEEMM- and AQC-derivatized amino acids were selected as these allow exploring two different fragmentation mechanisms (different types of bond cleavage, rearrangement reactions, etc.) for a series of compounds. Different derivatization reagents induce different fragmentation mechanisms (pathways) and allow, therefore, to systematically evaluate the applicability of the IE predictions on the response in MS/MS experiments.

#### Fragmentation patterns of derivatized amino acids

It was seen that different derivatization reagents fragment differently and fragmentation patterns were influenced by the structure of the derivate.

#### AQC reagent

AQC fragmentation follows strict mechanism of charge retention fragmentation pathways. For this reason, a very simple fragmentation pattern was observed where for all amino acids (AA) derivatized with AQC (AA-AQC, for short) a charge retention fragmentation occurs where the charge carrying fragment (m/z = 171) is formed from the reagent side. Example of fragmentation is shown on **Figure 9**.



**Figure 9.** Intensity of AA-AQC fragments and sum (dotted line) of total ion count depending on collision voltage. Orange line indicates m/z 171 fragment and blue line  $[M+H]^+$ .

Fragmentation yield for m/z 171 for AA-AQC is presented in **Figure 10** and it can be seen that also the fragmentation yield vs fragmentation energy follows a very similar pattern for all of the AA-AQC. This is expected, as for all AA-AQC the same bond is broken in the MRM experiments, followed by the formation of m/z 171.

Observing the same fragment ion for a large number of compounds is unfavorable from the selectivity point of view; all compounds with the same nominal mass containing amino group would yield both molecular ion and fragment ion with the same m/z. Still, the retention time predictions and ion mobility can be used to add selectivity for this type of cases. However, from the quantitation point of view this is highly beneficial. The *IE* values predicted for the molecular ion can be correlated with the response factors observed in the MRM mode (see discussion below).



**Figure 10.** The fragmentation yield of m/z = 171 for AA-AQC at different fragmentation voltages. All measurements were done with 2  $\mu$ M solution of AA-AQC and chromatographic separation was used.

#### DEEMM

DEEMM derivatization shows characteristic fragmentation from reagent side, which subsequentially loses neutral parts. Vu et al<sup>141</sup> has provided diagnostic fragment ions obtained from DEEMM-derivatized methionine and selenomethionine. In case of DEEMM derivatized amino acids, the fragmentation spectra is dominated by the  $[M+H-C_2H_5OH]^+$  ions for most of the amino acids. Also, the further fragmentation producing following fragments:  $[M+H-C_2H_5OH-CO]^+$ ,  $[M+H-C_2H_5OH]^+$ ,  $[M+H-C_2H_5OH-C_2H_5OH-C_2O]^+$ ,

 $[M+H-C_2H_5OH, -C_2H_5OH, -CH_2O, -O]^+$  is very similar for all amino acids. This shows that in the case of DEEMM, the fragmentation pattern is also largely dominated by the fragmentation of the derivatization reagent part of the molecule: a number of neutral losses from the reagent side occur consecutively. Example of fragmentation is shown on **Figure 11**.



Figure 11. Intensity of most of the AA-DEEMM fragments and sum (dotted line) of total ion count depending on collision voltage. Orange line indicates  $[M+H-46]^+$  fragment.

Fragmentation of proline, on the other hand, showed a little difference in fragmentation patterns. As seen on **Figure 12**, there is no single most abundant fragment, but different fragments contribute to sum of intensity equally. This could be explained by the fact, that nitrogen in the structure of proline is attached directly to the main chain and is counted as secondary amine.



**Figure 12**. Intensity of the Pro-DEEMM fragments and sum (dotted line) of total ion count depending on collision voltage. Orange line indicates [M+H-46]<sup>+</sup> fragment.

On the other hand, the fragmentation yield dependence on the collision voltage for different AA-DEEMM is relatively similar. Fragmentation yield for AA-DEEMM is presented in **Figure 13**. Smaller differences occur at the lower collision voltage values but in general the profiles are similar. Similarly to AQC, this was expected since all AA-DEEMM follow the same fragmentation pattern. It is also noted, that half of that AA-AQC collision energy is needed to generate most intense fragment ion for AA-DEEMM.



**Figure 13**. The fragmentation yield of  $[M+H-C_2H_5OH]+$  for AA-DEEMM at different fragmentation voltages. All measurements were done with 2  $\mu$ M solution of AA-DEEMM and chromatographic separation was used.

#### **Propyl chloroformate**

Compared to AA-AQC and AA-DEEMM, a very different fragmentation pattern was observed in the case of PrCl. For all AA-PrCl different fragments were observed (listed in Table 2 and Table S2).<sup>111</sup> This indicates that the fragmentation pattern strongly depends on the amino acid structure and in case of each AA-PrCl a different covalent bond is broken. For this reason, PrCl was discarded from the further studies. This could be explained by the fact that usually amino acid derivatization reagents react with amino group, but in case of PrCl, both amino and carboxylic acid group are taking part of derivatization reaction. Fragmentation mechanism for PrCl is very complex and involves hydrogen rearrangement from other part of the molecule.

# Correlation between ionization efficiency and response factor in MRM mode for derivatized amino acids

To find a suitable reagent, which could be used for estimating response in MRM mode, correlation plot of  $\log IE$  and  $\log RF_{MRM}$  is necessary. A high correlation would indicate that all ions generated in the source would fragment to the same extent and no differences would occur between amino acids. In addition to developing a new experimental  $\log IE$  measurement approach with chromatographic column, IE and RF values for DEEMM-, AQC- and PrCl-derivatized compounds and their comparison with each other is presented.

For calculating log $RF_{MRM}$ , two approaches were used – for AQC-derivates, only single transition with a product ion m/z 171 was used. For DEEMM-derivates several transitions were monitored and the sum of intensities of all transitions were used instead. Moreover, for DEEMM, single transition to  $[M+H-46]^+$  and sum of all transitions, very high ( $R^2=0.97$ ) correlation was observed, since the primary transition is also the most abundant one as seen in previous chapter.

In general, the IE values measured in scan mode varied more than 10 times for all derivatization reagents (more than 1 log $IE_{scan}$  unit). For the AA-AQC, the logIE values were from 1.2 to 2.9, for AA-DEEMM from 2.6 to 4.0, and for AA-PrCl from 3.0 to 1.1, see **Table 4**. The response factors measured in MRM mode (log $RF_{MRM}$ ) are influenced by two factors, the IE (log $IE_{scan}$ ) and the fragmentation yield. The response factors log $RF_{MRM}$  measured in MRM mode varied from 2.0 to -0.7, from 2.9 to 0.8, and from 3.25 to -1.4 logarithmic units for AA-AQC, AA-DEEMM, and AA-PrCl, respectively.

amino acids de	rrivatized with DEEMM, F	PrCl, an	d AQC, resp	ectively.			·			
			DEEMI	М		PrCl			AQC	
Abbreviation	Compound	$t_{ m R}$	$\log IE_{\rm scan}$	$\log RF_{ m MRM}$	$t_{ m R}$	$\log\!I\!E_{ m scan}$	$1 \mathrm{og} RF_{\mathrm{MRM}}$	$t_{ m R}$	$\log IE_{ m scan}$	$\log RF_{\rm MRM}$
GLY	Glycine	6.79	2.99	1.88	7.53	1.46	1.04	4.73	2.39	1.95
ALA	Alanine	7.42	3.01	1.95	7.93	1.56	0.57	5.34	2.27	1.51
SAR	Sarcosine				8.09	1.77	-0.28	4.87	2.35	1.14
ABA	α-Aminobutyric acid	8.11	3.98	1.87	8.32	1.64	1.98	5.87	2.46	1.34
GABA	4-Aminobutyric acid	7.30	3.00		8.10	1.43	-0.14	5.37	2.32	1.26
ßAIB	β-Aminoisobutyric acid	7.49	3.02	1.94	8.20	1.52	0.49	5.57	2.36	1.30
SER	Serine	6.48	2.81	1.90	7.34	1.56	0.62	4.65	2.14	1.28
PRO	Proline	7.22	3.50	1.53	8.43	1.76	0.76	5.48	2.13	1.17
VAL	Valine	8.27	3.27	2.58	89.68	1.24	0.60	6.37	2.46	1.46
THR	Threonine	6.83	3.06	2.02	7.68	1.58	0.42	5.17	2.27	1.32
ЧҮР	4-Hydroxyproline				5.93		0.51	6.94	2.85	1.86
ILE	Isoleucine			1.46	8.90	1.72	0.72		2.30	
LEU	Leucine	8.66	3.09	2.08	7.60	1.63	0.18			
ASN	Asparagine	6.22	2.74	1.66	7.44	1.56	0.17	6.93	2.17	0.81
ASP	Aspartic acid	6.66	2.89	1.94	8.67	1.42	0.50	4.93	1.60	0.76
GLN	Glutamine	6.46	2.80		7.17	1.63	-0.03	4.65	1.92	0.90
GLU	Glutamic acid	6.93	3.00	2.03	8.76	1.08	-0.12	5.07	1.64	0.64
MET	Methionine	8.14	3.64	2.85	8.52	1.05	1.19	6.21	2.26	1.31
SIH	Histidine	5.78	3.27	2.27	8.70	2.23	-0.69	6.03		
AAA	α-Aminoadipic acid	7.21	3.22	2.01	8.94	1.73	0.04	5.51	1.74	-0.67

Table 4. The retention times, ionization efficiency values measured in full scan mode, and response factors measured in MRM mode for

			DEEMI	М		PrCl			AQC	
Abbreviation	Compound	$t_{ m R}$	$\log IE_{\rm scan}$	$\log RF_{\rm MRM}$	$t_{ m R}$	$\log\!IE_{ m scan}$	$\log RF_{ m MRM}$	$t_{ m R}$	$\log IE_{ m scan}$	$\log RF_{\rm MRM}$
PHE	Phenylalanine	8.47	2.86	2.13	8.98	1.39	0.56	7.00	2.36	1.43
1 MHIS	1-Methyl-histidine	5.75	3.65	2.46	6.27	2.52	-1.42	4.12	1.20	-0.74
3MHIS	3-Methyl-histidine	5.82	3.27	1.95	6.25		-0.53	4.26	1.36	-0.64
ARG	Arginine	6.16	3.65	2.46	6.56	2.56	-1.05	4.25-4.8	1.32	-0.27
CIT	Citrulline	6.68	2.75		7.34	1.44	0.60	4.98	1.75	0.51
TYR	Tyrosine	7.60	3.23	2.00	9.30	1.12	-0.42	6.17	2.10	1.21
TRP	Tryptophan	8.29	3.35	2.64	8.82	1.26	-0.13	6.98	2.19	1.20
ORN	Ornithine			1.02	8.56	1.30	0.52		1.74	
ТХS	Lysine			2.00	8.75	1.39	0.83	6.00	1.72	
C-C	Cystine	8.43	2.56	0.79	9.26	1.36	-0.46	6.00	1.52	

All in all, the  $\log IE_{scan}$  values and  $\log RF_{MRM}$  are in good correlation for AQC (Figure 14), with  $R^2$  of 0.80. This good correlation is expected, as the fragmentation pattern for AA-AQC is dominated by the charge retention fragmentation, where a single fragment is observed for all of the amino acids. A lower  $R^2$  value was observed in case of AA-DEEMM (0.30). This is expected as the range of the logRF<sub>MRM</sub> values is much narrower. For AA-DEEMM, the fragmentation spectra are dominated by the derivatization reagent side. Actually, three outliers in case of DEEMM, Pro, C-C and Aba could be explained as follows. Pro has different fragmentation pattern, C-C has previously also shown difficulties in measurements due to possible instability of the molecule and in case of Aba, three compounds with the same m/z were in the mixture and it could be identification error. If we remove these outliers,  $R^2$  for AA-DEEMM is as high as 0.68. This gives future perspective for further studies. However, no correlation between logIE and log $RF_{MRM}$  values is observed for PrCl ( $R^2$  is 0.01). This is expected as the fragmentation pattern strongly depends on the amino acid; therefore, the fragmentation yield component in the response factor strongly varies from amino acid to amino acid. It was also no difference in case of PrCl, if only single or multiple transition(s) were used for  $\log RF_{MRM}$  calculations.

 $\log RF_{MRM}$  vs  $\log IE_{scan}$  for amino acids derivatizised with PrCl, AQC, and DEEMM. All measurements have been carried out under chromatogrphic separation.



**Figure 14**. The correlation between the measured  $\log IE$  and  $\log RF_{MRM}$  values for AA derivatized with EZ fast, AQC, and DEEMM. The best correlation is observed for AA-AQC.

# Application of the predicted ionization efficiency values in the MRM mode for concentration predictions for different beverage samples (Paper III)

In this work, a method to quantify the derivatized amino acids from beverages without the standard substances with both LC/ESI/MS and LC/ESI/MS/MS was developed. It was applied to distinguish between different types of wine, beer and tea of different origin.

For each compound, the measured  $\log IE$  values and response factors  $\log RF_{MRM}$  were used to evaluate concentrations in real samples. To calculate concentration units from these values in real samples, the following calculation method was used:

c, mg/L = 
$$\frac{A_{sample}}{10^{\log/E - 3.95} * slope([Et_4N]^+)} * [M(AA)] * dil * 1000 mg/g$$
 (Eq. 6)

where  $A_{sample}$  is intensity (peak area) of injected sample for selected substance, slope( $[Et_4N]^+$ ) is slope of tetraethylammonium measured together with sample series, M(AA) is a molecular weight of selected amino acid, *dil* is sample dilution factor and 1000 is conversion factor. These obtained concentrations were cross-checked against measured values with classical multipoint calibration graph method. Results are presented in Table 5 for beer, Table 6 for wine and **Table 7** for tea.

This approach could be used for fast and high-throughput sample screening for amino acid concentrations in different beverages. It will give an opportunity to compare batches of same kind of beverage to rule out counterfeits like dilution or syrup drinks etc. As seen from the equation 6, all that is needed, is anchor compound which will measured together with sample series.

			AL	eCoq			LEH	ΙE			Õller	laut			Põhj	ala	
		MRN	1	Sca	u	MR	М	Scan		MRN	γ	Scat		MRN	1	Scan	
		Measured		Measured		Measured		Measured		Measured		Measured		Measured		Measured	
		via	ć,	via	o ma/I	via	ۍ ن	via	ڻ ن	via	ć,	via	ć,	via	°,	via	ۍ ن
		calibration	mg/L,	calibration	v, mg/r, log/E	calibration	mg/L,	calibration	mg/L,	calibration	mg/L,	calibration	mg/L,	calibration	mg/L,	calibration	mg/L,
		curve c, mg/L	INGOL	curve c, mg/L		curve c, mg/L	Jugor	curve c, mg/L	Ingit	mg/L	logAr	curve c, mg/L	10g1L	curve c, mg/L	IOBAL	mg/L	INGLE
GLY	Glycine	47.4	7.1	40.8	29.7	50.3	7.6	42.7	31.0	34.7	5.2	30.9	22.5	59.1	8.9	51.5	37.5
ALA	Alanine	0.06	46.3	176.0	105.3	77.4	36.2	140.4	84.0	39.8	18.6	11.9	7.1	203.1	95.0	337.0	201.6
SAR	Sarcosine	QN	QN	ND	QN	Ŋ	ND	Ŋ	QN	ND	ND	QN	ND	ND	QN	QN	ND
ABA	a-Aminobutyric acid	Ŋ	Ŋ	Ŋ	ND	QN	ND	Ŋ	QN	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	Q	Q	ND
GABA	4-Aminobutyric acid	60.8	42.6	58.6	40.1	87.6	61.3	88.9	60.7	9.0	6.3	9.6	6.6	94.8	66.4	105.4	72.0
ßAIB	β-Aminoisobutyric acid	1.6	1.3	4.7	3.8	ND	QN	Ŋ	QN	ND	QN	QN	ND	ND	Q	Q	ND
SER	Serine	3.1	1.9	7.0	5.9	29.7	18.3	30.2	25.6	2.9	1.8	0.7	0.6	15.1	9.3	14.7	12.5
PRO	Proline	551.5	362.3	605.2	408.1	590.6	388.0	608.8	410.5	613.3	402.8	677.6	456.9	760.1	499.3	829.4	559.2
VAL	Valine	53.9	37.2	55.1	38.1	20.8	14.3	17.4	12.0	3.2	2.2	3.7	2.5	96.5	66.7	93.7	64.8
THR	Threonine	1.2	0.8	0.1	0.1	14.5	9.7	15.3	10.0	1.2	0.8	0.3	0.2	10.0	6.7	8.4	5.5
HYP	4-Hydroxyproline	15.1	11.0	11.3	8.5	16.5	12.0	14.0	10.6	2.2	1.6	0.5	0.4	48.3	35.3	44.5	33.6
ILE	Isoleucine	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
LEU	Leucine	Ŋ	ND	QN	ND	QN	ND	ND	ND	DN	ΠN	ND	ND	ND	ND	QN	ND
ASN	Asparagine	19.2	11.3	13.3	9.8	19.6	11.6	25.4	18.8	2.4	1.4	ND	ND	46.3	27.3	56.0	41.4
ORN	Ornithine	QN	QN	ΟN	QN	ND	ΠŊ	308.3	325.2	ND	ΩN	ΠN	ΠŊ	ND	QN	71.0	74.9
ASP	Aspartic acid	4.6	4.0	3.5	4.0	19.1	16.7	14.7	16.5	2.2	1.9	1.6	1.7	22.9	20.0	23.0	25.8
GLN	Glutamine	2.1	1.7	ΟN	QN	14.8	11.7	10.5	8.2	0.5	0.4	0.0	0.0	26.5	21.1	20.3	15.7
GLU	Glutamic acid	20.2	24.7	ΟN	QN	31.3	38.3	27.8	26.9	4.9	0.9	3.9	3.8	52.2	63.9	51.3	49.8
MET	Methionine	1.3	1.0	0.5	0.3	4.5	3.4	4.2	2.7	0.3	0.3	0.0	0.0	11.8	8.8	12.1	7.7
HIS	Histidine	ND	ND	QN	ND	12.3	0.4	ND	ND	ND	ND	QN	QN	ND	Q	Q	Ŋ
AAA	α-Aminoadipic acid	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	5.4	5.3	ND	ΠN	ND	ND	ND	ND	2.5	2.4
PHE	Phenylalanine	56.9	35.4	46.3	30.7	18.8	11.7	15.2	10.0	3.5	2.1	165.2	109.4	84.3	52.4	75.7	50.2
1 MHIS	1-Methyl-histidine	ND	ND	QN	ΟN	QN	ΠŊ	ND	ND	ND	ΠN	QN	ΠŊ	ND	QN	QN	ND
3MHIS	3-Methyl-histidine	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ΠN	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
ARG	Arginine	53.0	50.2	48.1	33.6	59.4	56.3	56.8	39.8	1.3	1.3	ΩN	ND	6.96	91.8	9.66	69.6
CIT	Citrulline	2.0	1.4	0.3	0.2	2.0	1.4	ND	ND	2.5	1.9	ND	ND	ND	ND	0.5	0.3
TYR	Tyrosine	51.6	39.0	50.8	35.9	43.8	33.1	41.3	29.2	2.6	2.0	2.3	1.6	63.5	48.1	66.4	47.0
TRP	Tryptophan	27.7	19.8	24.6	15.1	28.5	20.3	20.7	12.7	0.9	0.6	0.4	0.2	46.4	33.1	46.0	28.2
C-C	Cystine	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ΠN	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
LYS	Lysine	Ŋ	ND	22.3	14.1	ND	ND	5.0	3.2	ND	ΠN	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
square o	f correlation coefficient. $R^2$																
	w/ PRO	586.0	~	56.0	66	0.98	8	0.949	6	66.0	8	1.00	0	0.98(	C	0.995	
	w/o PRO	0.786	2	56.0	94	0.70	5	0.959	6	0.70	3	66.0	6	0.72	7	0.969	

Table 5. Amino acid concentration in different Estonian beers.

		Põ	ltsamaa	Kuldne		~	Merlot.	France		Pino	tage. Sc	outh Africa		Cabernet	Sauvign	ot. South A	frica	Cabern	tet Sau	vignot. Fra	nce
		MRM		Scan		MRM	Į	Scan		MRM	Į	Scar	-	MRN	1	Scan		MRN	1	Sci	u
		Measured		Measured		Measured		Measured		Measured		Measured		Measured		Measured		Measured		Measured	
		via	ు	via	с.	via	С	via	 '	via	С	via	с.	via	.;	via	.;	via	స	via	с.
		calibration	mg/L.	calibration	mg/L.	calibration	mg/L.	calibration	mg/L.	calibration	mg/L.	calibration	mg/L.	calibration	mg/L.	calibration	mg/L.	calibration	mg/L.	calibratio	L mg/L
		curve c. mg/L	logKr	curve c. mg/L	logikr	curve c. mg/L	logKF	curve c. mg/L	logKr	curve c. mg/L	logikr	curve c. mg/L	logkr	curve c. mg/L	logKF	curve c. mg/L	logKr	curve c. mg/L	logkr	curve c. mg/L	logk
GLY	Glycine	24.1	3.6	22.9	16.6	38.2	5.7	30.5	22.2	40.9	6.1	39.6	28.8	41.5	6.2	35.6	25.9	38.8	5.8	31.8	23.2
ALA	Alanine	36.7	17.2	53.4	31.9	59.1	27.6	82.1	49.1	105.7	49.5	172.1	103.0	56.8	26.6	91.8	54.9	55.5	26.0	91.3	54.6
SAR	Sarcosine	Q	Q	ND	Q	ND	ND	ND	q	ND	Q	ND	ΠD	ND	Q	ND	QN	ND	ND	Q	Ŋ
ABA	α-Aminobutyric acid	0.1	0.1	ND	Q	ND	Q	ND	ND	QN	Q	ND	ΠD	ND	Q	ND	QN	ND	ND	Q	Ŋ
GABA	4-Aminobutyric acid	3.2	2.2	ND	QN	12.2	8.5	11.1	7.6	93.7	65.7	85.3	58.3	11.1	7.8	9.8	6.7	13.8	9.7	11.6	8.0
ßAIB	β-Aminoisobutyric acid	1.0	0.8	ND	QN	1.3	1.0	ND	ND	9.2	7.3	11.1	9.1	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.3	1.5	1.2	1.4	1.1
SER	Serine	3.7	2.3	0.7	0.6	9.6	5.9	9.3	7.9	18.3	11.3	15.7	13.3	13.1	8.1	8.8	7.4	11.5	7.1	11.9	10.1
PRO	Proline	8.0	5.3	13.4	9.1	2403	1578	2327	1569	1448	951	1436	896	3048	2002	3089	2083	2124	1395	2212	1491
VAL	Valine	2.4	1.7	1.0	0.7	7.1	4.9	6.7	4.6	8.2	5.7	14.3	6.6	8.6	6.0	8.5	5.9	9.2	6.4	8.8	6.1
THR	Threonine	6.0	0.6	0.2	0.1	7.0	4.7	4.2	2.7	23.6	15.9	24.0	15.7	8.0	5.3	6.9	4.5	7.7	5.2	L'L	5.0
НҮР	4-Hydroxyproline	1.5	1.1	1.9	1.5	6.3	4.6	5.7	4.3	12.1	8.8	12.5	9.4	6.4	4.7	5.4	4.1	10.0	7.3	11.5	8.7
ILE	Isoleucine	QN	ND	ND	ΠN	ND	ND	ND	QN	ND	ΠN	ΠŊ	ΠŊ	ND	ΠN	ND	ΩN	ΠN	ΠŊ	ΠN	ΠN
LEU	Leucine	Q	QN	ND	QN	ND	ND	ND	Q	ND	Q	Q	ΠD	ND	Q	ND	QN	ΩN	ND	QN	Ŋ
ASN	Asparagine	2.0	1.2	0.5	0.4	7.4	4.3	5.4	4.0	13.0	L.T	5.4	4.0	7.3	4.3	3.4	2.5	11.9	0.7	3.9	2.9
ORN	Ornithine	QN	ND	ND	ΠN	ND	QN	ΠN	ND	ND	ΩN	8.6	0.6	4.1	32.1	1.7	1.7	ΩN	ΠN	1.9	2.0
ASP	Aspartic acid	4.5	3.9	1.6	1.8	8.3	7.3	7.1	8.0	21.2	18.5	13.1	14.7	10.2	8.9	9.6	11.1	12.1	10.6	12.6	14.2
GLN	Glutamine	0.0	0.0	ND	ΠN	0.1	0.1	ND	ND	0.1	0.1	ND	ΩN	ND	ΠN	ND	ΠN	ΩN	ΠN	ΠN	ΩN
GLU	Glutamic acid	2.7	3.2	ND	ΠN	23.4	28.6	20.0	19.4	46.3	56.6	38.7	37.6	24.6	30.1	23.4	22.7	33.9	41.5	1.9.1	18.6
MET	Methionine	0.2	0.1	ND	ΠN	1.9	1.4	ND	QN	4.6	3.5	5.2	3.3	1.3	1.0	1.8	1.1	2.8	2.1	2.6	1.6
SIH	Histidine	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ΠN	ND
AAA	a-Aminoadipic acid	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ΠN	ND
PHE	Phenylalanine	2.7	1.7	1.0	0.7	7.1	4.4	5.7	3.8	12.6	7.9	13.4	8.9	7.5	4.6	6.7	4.4	10.6	6.6	10.1	6.7
1MHIS	1-Methyl-histidine	ND	Q	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	Ŋ	ND	Ŋ	ND	ND	ND	Ŋ	ND	ND	ND	QN	ND	ΩN
3MHIS	3-Methyl-histidine	ND	Q	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	Ŋ	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	QN	ND	ND
ARG	Arginine	0.7	0.7	0.6	0.4	11.1	10.5	ND	ND	251.8	238.7	196.8	137.6	4.8	4.6	ND	ND	11.9	11.3	3.2	2.3
CIT	Citrulline	0.3	0.2	ND	ND	ND	ND	0.7	0.5	1.9	1.4	1.2	0.8	1.6	1.2	ND	ND	ND	ND	ΠN	ND
TYR	Tyrosine	2.2	1.7	ND	ND	3.1	2.4	ND	ND	7.4	5.6	14.0	9.9	4.6	3.4	7.5	5.3	5.0	3.8	8.8	6.3
TRP	Tryptophan	0.1	0.0	ND	ND	2.0	1.4	ND	ND	2.4	1.7	1.3	0.8	2.1	1.5	0.5	0.3	2.2	1.6	4.7	2.9
C-C	Cystine	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	1.5	1.1	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ΠN	ND
LYS	Lysine	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	13.0	8.2	ND	ND	7.5	4.7	ND	ND	17.6	11.2
square o	f correlation coefficient. $R^2$																				
	w/ PRO	0.799		566.0	\$	1.000	(	1.000		0.992	~	1.00	0	1.000	•	1.000	_	1.000	(	1.0	00
	w/o PRO	0.805		0.993	~	0.579	~	0.973		0.938	~	0.98	2	0.540	_	0.970	_	0.501		6.0	0,

Table 6. Amino acid concentration in different wines.

			Chamo	mile tea			Gree	n tea	
		MRM		Scan		MRM		Scan	
		Measured via	c. mø/L.	Measured via	c. mø/L.	Measured via	c. mø/L.	Measured via	c. mø/L.
		calibration curve c. mg/L	$\log RF$	calibration curve c. mg/L	logIE	calibration curve c. mg/L	$\log RF$	calibration curve c. mg/L	logIE
GLY	Glycine	2.6	0.3	3.0	2.8	0.4	0.0	0.5	0.4
ALA	Alanine	9.6	9.1	9.7	10.9	3.4	3.2	4.5	5.0
SAR	Sarcosine	QN	ŊŊ	ND	ΟN	QN	ŊŊ	ΟN	ND
ABA	α-Aminobutyric acid	0.1	0.1	ND	ΟN	QN	ŊŊ	ΟN	ND
GABA	4-Aminobutyric acid	10.0	7.5	10.2	12.6	1.0	0.8	1.1	1.3
ßAIB	β-Aminoisobutyric acid	0.2	0.1	ND	ΟN	ΟN	ŊŊ	DN	ND
SER	Serine	8.6	3.7	11.8	9.6	7.3	3.2	10.5	8.6
PRO	Proline	19.7	13.9	24.3	25.3	2.5	1.7	3.0	3.2
VAL	Valine	7.2	4.8	6.7	8.5	5.0	3.3	5.9	6.3
THR	Threonine	6.0	4.1	8.4	8.6	3.8	2.6	5.6	5.7
НҮР	4-Hydroxyproline	4.4	2.6	4.2	4.6	2.9	1.7	3.1	3.3
ILE	Isoleucine	DN	ŊŊ	DN	ΟN	ΟN	DN	ΟN	ND
LEU	Leucine	DN	ŊŊ	ΟN	ΟN	ΟN	ΟN	ΟN	ND
ASN	Asparagine	4.9	2.2	9.9	6.7	2.8	1.2	4.5	4.6
ASP	Aspartic acid	7.6	3.3	8.2	6.2	6.8	2.9	45.1	34.1
GLN	Glutamine	9.7	5.8	12.6	11.3	23.9	14.3	33.5	30.1
GLU	Glutamic acid	13.3	4.7	22.8	3.6	26.0	9.1	46.7	7.3
MET	Methionine	ΟN	ΠN	QN	ΠN	ND	ΟN	ΟN	ND
SIH	Histidine	QN	ŊŊ	ND	ΟN	QN	ŊŊ	ΟN	ND
AAA	α-Aminoadipic acid	QN	ΠN	<b>UN</b>	ΟN	ΟN	ΟN	ΩN	ND
PHE	Phenylalanine	3.9	2.3	4.2	5.4	4.2	2.5	5.3	6.9
1 MHIS	1-Methyl-histidine	QN	ΠN	<b>CIN</b>	ΠN	ND	ΟN	ΟN	ND
3 MHIS	3-Methyl-histidine	0.3	0.3	0.7	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.8	0.5
ARG	Arginine	10.0	12.8	30.2	23.2	20.0	25.6	55.0	42.2
CIT	Citrulline	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
TYR	Tyrosine	6.8	3.3	9.2	8.7	3.1	1.5	3.2	3.0
TRP	Tryptophan	2.5	1.5	3.0	3.4	3.7	2.3	5.6	6.4
ORN	Ornithine	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
LYS	Lysine	ND	ND	25.9	ND	ND	ND	10.9	ND
C-C	Cystine	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
Square	to f correlation coefficient. $R^2$								
	w/ GLU	0.741		0.617		0.663		0.736	
	w/o GLU	0.816		0.932		0.806		0.991	

Table 7. Amino acid concentration in different tea.

## Validation of the ionization efficiency-based quantification method (Paper III)

The trueness of the method can be evaluated based on the analysis of the real wine, beer and tea samples by comparing the concentrations determined (1) with  $\log IE$  or  $\log RF$  based method and (2) calibration graph-based method. As seen from the Table 5, Table 6 and Table 7, good correlation could be obtained, when we use measured and predicted concentrations.

The analysis of the predicted concentrations vs concentration measured with calibration graph resulted in  $R^2$  of 0.90 and slope of 0.71 over four beer samples (including both MRM and scan data). Slope value below 1 shows that concentration calculation via prediction slightly underestimate it. Comparing MRM and san modes, the square of correlation coefficient over all beer samples is 0.85 and 0.93 and slopes 0.60 and 0.75 respectively. For the wine samples,  $R^2$  for four wine samples was 0.92 and slope 0.72 (including both MRM and scan data). Slope value below 1 show, that concentration calculation via prediction slightly underestimate them. Comparing MRM and scan,  $R^2$  is 0.89 and 0.98 and slopes 0.55 and 0.65 respectively. For two tea samples  $R^2$  values over 0.8 were observed when comparing log*IE* or log*RF* with calibration graph method.

Two sets are given for wines and beers, with and without proline, since proline has 7800 times higher concentration in some wine and 1700 times higher in some beer (compared to lowest concentration found) and also to show better correlation in lower range of concentrations. For the comparison sampleby-sample  $R^2$  values between 0.95 and 1.00 are observed over both MRM and scan measurement modes with proline and between 0.70 and 1.00 without proline in case of beers.  $R^2$  values between 0.80 and 1.00 are observed over both MRM and scan measurement modes with proline and between 0.50 and 0.99 without proline in case of wines. Overall correlations between log*RF* and calibration graph and log*IE* and calibration graphs for wine, beer and tea, are presented on Figure 15, Figure 16 and Figure 17.



Figure 15. The fit between concentrations of amino acids in wines estimated with calibration graph vs estimated with  $\log_{RF_{MRM}}$  (left) or  $\log_{IE_{scan}}$  (right) based method.



**Figure 16.** The fit between concentrations of amino acids in **beers** estimated with calibration graph based method vs estimated with  $\log RF_{MRM}$  (left) or  $\log IE_{scan}$  (right) based method.



Figure 17. The fit between concentrations of amino acids in teas estimated with calibration graph based method vs estimated with  $\log RF_{MRM}$  (left) or  $\log IE_{scan}$  (right) based method.

In every sample correlation between measured and predicted concentrations in scan mode is better than in MRM mode. Some compounds, like glycine and alanine, have higher standard deviation for  $\log RF_{MRM}$  measurement and this influences the accuracy of concentration prediction. At the same time,  $\log IE$  measurements have better precision. These poorer precisions in  $\log RF_{MRM}$  measurements also influence the prediction, since in MRM mode, for example, we can see that glycine and alanine which had poor precision, are also the outliers in correlation between measured and predicted concentrations.

Additionally, the trueness was calculated by using the concentration estimated with the calibration graph approach as a reference value.

$$Trueness = average\left(\frac{c_{IE \ based \ method}}{c_{calibration \ graph \ method}}\right) \cdot 100 \ \%$$

For the MRM based method, the average trueness value is 70.5 %. For full scan based method the average trueness is 75.5 %. For both modes, most of the values are within 50 and 125 %. Notably, in MRM mode glycine has a very low trueness value. This is due to the less accurate  $\log RF_{\rm MRM}$  values available for glycine. The numerical trueness values for all analytes for both beer and wine samples are brought in Table S3.

The influence of matrix effect was evaluated based on the trueness values from sample to sample. In case matrix effect would have high contribution to the methods accuracy we would expect to see high variations in the trueness values between different samples. This is due to the fact that in different samples analytes are coeluting with different matrix components and are, therefore, expected to show scatter in trueness values. Especially, this would be expected while comparing wine and beer samples.

For all samples, both wine and beer samples, the concentration prediction accuracy does not depend on the sample, rather on the compound. Therefore, it was concluded that the influence of the matrix effect on the method accuracy is negligible.

It gives a very good opportunity to predict concentration levels of different compounds in wines and evaluate potentially hazardous compounds in wines via only knowing the log*IE* or log*RF* value of derivatized compounds both in scan and in MRM mode.

# Comparison of amino acid concentrations in wines, beers and tea

It was observed, that in Estonian apple wine amino acids concentrations are in much lower concentrations than in classical red grapes wines. The same trend was observed independently with the quantification methods ( $logIE_{scan}$ ,  $logRF_{MRM}$  or calibration graph) for all wine samples (**Figure 18**). The patterns observed for wines are the same independent of the quantification method. Calculated and predicted concentrations are average of 100- and 1000-fold diluted samples. Found concentrations in beers and wines are comparable with previous result.<sup>3</sup>

Found concentration of two tea samples were also correlated between classical multi-point calibration graph method and log*IE* or log*RF* estimated values.

It is observed that the beer from Õllenaut has the lowest amino acid concentration. Generally, the patterns observed for beers are the same independent of the quantification method (**Figure 19**). This allows suggesting that  $\log RF_{MRM}$ based quantification approach can be useful in the characterization of suspected compounds in beverages if the calibration graph cannot be prepared due to lack of standard compounds. In order to further validate this assumption, the method was partially validated for relevant method performance characteristics.



**Figure 18.** The variation of amino acid concentration between different wines determined by the  $\log RF_{MRM}$  method (left) and calibration graph-based method(right).



Figure 19. The variation of amino acid concentration between different beers and determined by the  $\log RF_{MRM}$  method (left) and calibration graph-based method(right).

### SUMMARY

Liquid chromatography electrospray ionization (tandem) mass spectrometry LC/ESI/MS(MS) is the most versatile and powerful analytical method for analyzing hundreds of analytes from various different matrices in very low quantities. Until today, majority of studies, methods and application still use standard substances to quantitatively determine analytes in question. The scale of ionization efficiency (log*IE*) in scan modes have been constructed previously to partly solve this problem for screening methods. The aim of this doctoral thesis was to provide solution to eliminate standard substances for targeted analysis of derivatized compound for analysis carried out with LC/ESI/MS/MS.

First, the method of how to measure log*IE* values for derivatized amino acids was needed in order to study how derivatization changes ionization efficiency (IE) in the ESI source. The method had to be different from the originally designed log*IE* measurement method using a well-controlled (solvent composition, analytes in the ESI source) flow-injection method. Log*IE* measurement of derivatized compounds needed a method allowing the use of a chromatographic column and a changing eluent composition. In this work, such a method was developed and this allowed to measure and evaluate the IE of different compounds, mainly for amino acids and biogenic amines, which are important constituents in different foodstuff and beverages. Log*IE* values of both derivatized and underivatized analytes were measured and results showed that in most cases, derivatization enhances IE. In addition, log*IE* values obtained in this work were also linked to previously measured log*IE* scales in order to further broaden these scales.

Together with  $\log IE$  studies of protonated compounds, a sodium-adduct formation and ESI negative ion mode were also studied. In general, it was noted, that sodium-adduct formation and deprotonation in negative ion mode (in conditions targeted to positive ion mode) are very erratic and correlation couldn't be drawn between different modes. But in one case, PrCl-derivatized amino acid, one interesting observation was made, where weak ( $R^2=0.5$ ) correlation was achieved between positive ion mode and formation of sodiumadducts. However, this shows that for  $\log IE$  application for standard substance free analysis, protonated analytes should be preferred.

During the method development and application of the new log*IE* measurement system using the chromatographic column, it was compared how different ionization sources and eluents would correlate with each other in respect of log*IE*. Essentially, the idea behind it was to show that already published log*IE* values can be used to evaluate the sensitivity when a chromatographical analysis is applied. This was done by measuring sets of compounds with four different setups. It was seen, that in case of atmospheric pressure chemical ionization (APCI) source, correlation between log*IE* and log*Slope* of chromatographic method while using methanol or acetonitrile was not so good ( $R^2$ =0,42), and probably high errors would occur, if one wants to predict the sensitivity of

chromatographic method from log*IE* values of the same system. But in case of ESI source, a higher correlation ( $R^2$ =0.71 and 0.79) was observed and in this case, log*IE* values measured in flow-injection mode would be highly beneficial to assess sensitivity for chromatographic method with either solvent.

Since most practical applications nowadays use MS/MS analysis, the next aim was to evaluate the correlation of measured log*IE* values with response factors (log*RF*) in MS/MS, which would yield opportunity to use RF for evaluating content of analytes. It was found that in case of amino acids derivatized with AQC, a very high correlation ( $R^2$ =0.80) between log*IE* and log*RF* in MS/MS occurred, which means, that log*IE* values indicate log*RF* values with high accuracy. This allowed to move into the last step of the method development.

Since the ultimate goal in this thesis was to test if an analysis without standard substances is possible, the final study was to see if  $\log RF$  values could be used to estimate analyte concentration without standard substances in different matrices. Matrices chosen were beer, wine and tea, where amino acid analysis has been previously used to evaluate their quality, origin, etc. This method showed good correlation between  $\log IE$  and  $\log RF$  values, which were both used for estimating amino acid concentration in beer, wine and tea. Both estimates ( $\log IE$  and  $\log RF$ ) showed very high correlation compared to concentrations obtained with a calibration curve method and the method was also validated to show its trueness and other parameters. Therefore, it was concluded that this approach would be useful tool to make a targeted scan very effective for many analytes together to evaluate their concentration, by which it is possible to distinguish counterfeit drinks from the original ones.

As demonstrated, standard free quantitation for targeted MS/MS analysis is possible. It will open lots of possibilities for a wide area of different application to perform such analysis. This application could possibly be expanded to other reagents and analytes which in turn widens even more range of use such approach.

## REFERENCES

- 1. French, D. Chapter Five Advances in Clinical Mass Spectrometry. in *Advances in Clinical Chemistry* (ed. Makowski, G. S.) vol. 79 153–198 (Elsevier, 2017).
- 2. Hoffmann, E. de & Stroobant, V. *Mass Spectrometry Principles and Applications*. (John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2007).
- Gómez-Alonso, S., Hermosín-Gutiérrez, I. & García-Romero, E. Simultaneous HPLC Analysis of Biogenic Amines, Amino Acids, and Ammonium Ion as Aminoenone Derivatives in Wine and Beer Samples. J. Agric. Food Chem. 55, 608–613 (2007).
- Harder, U., Koletzko, B. & Peissner, W. Quantification of 22 plasma amino acids combining derivatization and ion-pair LC–MS/MS. J. Chromatogr. B 879, 495–504 (2011).
- Ziegler, J. & Abel, S. Analysis of amino acids by HPLC/electrospray negative ion tandem mass spectrometry using 9-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl chloride (Fmoc-Cl) derivatization. *Amino Acids* 46, 2799–2808 (2014).
- Riedl, J., Esslinger, S. & Fauhl-Hassek, C. Review of validation and reporting of non-targeted fingerprinting approaches for food authentication. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 885, 17–32 (2015).
- 7. Liigand, J. *et al.* Transferability of the Electrospray Ionization Efficiency Scale between Different Instruments. *J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom.* **26**, 1923–1930 (2015).
- 8. García-Reyes, J. F., Hernando, M. D., Molina-Díaz, A. & Fernández-Alba, A. R. Comprehensive screening of target, non-target and unknown pesticides in food by LC-TOF-MS. *TrAC Trends Anal. Chem.* **26**, 828–841 (2007).
- Piestansky, J., Galba, J., Olesova, D., Kovacech, B. & Kovac, A. Determination of immunogenic proteins in biopharmaceuticals by UHPLC–MS amino acid analysis. *BMC Chem.* 13, (2019).
- 10. Gaskell, S. J. Electrospray: Principles and Practice. J. Mass Spectrom. 32, 677–688 (1997).
- 11. Konermann, L., Ahadi, E., Rodriguez, A. D. & Vahidi, S. Unraveling the Mechanism of Electrospray Ionization. *Anal. Chem.* **85**, 2–9 (2013).
- 12. Laaniste, A., Leito, I. & Kruve, A. ESI outcompetes other ion sources in LC/MS trace analysis. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* **411**, 3533–3542 (2019).
- Chalcraft, K. R., Lee, R., Mills, C. & Britz-McKibbin, P. Virtual Quantification of Metabolites by Capillary Electrophoresis-Electrospray Ionization-Mass Spectrometry: Predicting Ionization Efficiency Without Chemical Standards. *Anal. Chem.* 81, 2506–2515 (2009).
- Whitehouse, C. M., Dreyer, R. N., Yamashita, Masamichi. & Fenn, J. B. Electrospray interface for liquid chromatographs and mass spectrometers. *Anal. Chem.* 57, 675–679 (1985).
- 15. Enke, C. G. A Predictive Model for Matrix and Analyte Effects in Electrospray Ionization of Singly-Charged Ionic Analytes. *Anal. Chem.* **69**, 4885–4893 (1997).
- 16. Kebarle, P. A brief overview of the present status of the mechanisms involved in electrospray mass spectrometry. *J. Mass Spectrom.* **35**, 804–817 (2000).
- 17. Iribarne, J. V. & Thomson, B. A. On the evaporation of small ions from charged droplets. J. Chem. Phys. 64, 2287–2294 (1976).
- 18. Cech, N. B. & Enke, C. G. Practical implications of some recent studies in electrospray ionization fundamentals. *Mass Spectrom. Rev.* **20**, 362–387 (2001).

- 19. Kruve, A. Influence of mobile phase, source parameters and source type on electrospray ionization efficiency in negative ion mode. *J. Mass Spectrom.* **51**, 596–601 (2016).
- Huffman, B. A., Poltash, M. L. & Hughey, C. A. Effect of Polar Protic and Polar Aprotic Solvents on Negative-Ion Electrospray Ionization and Chromatographic Separation of Small Acidic Molecules. *Anal. Chem.* 84, 9942–9950 (2012).
- Henriksen, T., Juhler, R. K., Svensmark, B. & Cech, N. B. The relative influences of acidity and polarity on responsiveness of small organic molecules to analysis with negative ion electrospray ionization mass spectrometry (ESI-MS). J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 16, 446–455 (2005).
- Stahnke, H., Kittlaus, S., Kempe, G., Hemmerling, C. & Alder, L. The influence of electrospray ion source design on matrix effects. *J. Mass Spectrom.* 47, 875–884 (2012).
- 23. Hermans, J., Ongay, S., Markov, V. & Bischoff, R. Physicochemical Parameters Affecting the Electrospray Ionization Efficiency of Amino Acids after Acylation. *Anal. Chem.* **89**, 9159–9166 (2017).
- 24. Kostiainen, R. & Kauppila, T. J. Effect of eluent on the ionization process in liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. *J. Chromatogr. A* **1216**, 685–699 (2009).
- Liigand, J., Kruve, A., Leito, I., Girod, M. & Antoine, R. Effect of Mobile Phase on Electrospray Ionization Efficiency. J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 25, 1853–1861 (2014).
- Rebane, R. & Herodes, K. Influence of boric acid on ESI ionization efficiency. *Eur. J. Mass Spectrom.* 18, 71 (2012).
- 27. Oss, M., Kruve, A., Herodes, K. & Leito, I. Electrospray Ionization Efficiency Scale of Organic Compounds. *Anal. Chem.* **82**, 2865–2872 (2010).
- 28. Cech, N. B. & Enke, C. G. Relating electrospray ionization response to nonpolar character of small peptides. *Anal. Chem.* **72**, 2717–2723 (2000).
- Kruve, A., Kaupmees, K., Liigand, J. & Leito, I. Negative Electrospray Ionization via Deprotonation: Predicting the Ionization Efficiency. *Anal. Chem.* 86, 4822– 4830 (2014).
- Leito, I. *et al.* Towards the electrospray ionization mass spectrometry ionization efficiency scale of organic compounds. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.* 22, 379– 384 (2008).
- Kruve, A., Kaupmees, K., Liigand, J., Oss, M. & Leito, I. Sodium adduct formation efficiency in ESI source. J. Mass Spectrom. 48, 695–702 (2013).
- 32. Rebane, R. et al. Establishing Atmospheric Pressure Chemical Ionization Efficiency Scale. Anal. Chem. 88, 3435–3439 (2016).
- 33. Liigand, P. *et al.* Think Negative: Finding the Best Electrospray Ionization/MS Mode for Your Analyte. *Anal. Chem.* **89**, 5665–5668 (2017).
- Rebane, R. *et al.* Ionization efficiency ladders as tools for choosing ionization mode and solvent in liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.* 33, 1834–1843 (2019).
- Cramer, C. J., Johnson, J. L. & Kamel, A. M. Prediction of Mass Spectral Response Factors from Predicted Chemometric Data for Druglike Molecules. J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 28, 278–285 (2017).
- 36. Kruve, A. & Kaupmees, K. Predicting ESI/MS Signal Change for Anions in Different Solvents. *Anal. Chem.* (2017) doi:10.1021/acs.analchem.7b00595.

- Blanz, J. *et al.* Evaluation of relative MS response factors of drug metabolites for semi-quantitative assessment of chemical liabilities in drug discovery. *J. Mass Spectrom. JMS* 52, 210–217 (2017).
- Pieke, E. N., Granby, K., Trier, X. & Smedsgaard, J. A framework to estimate concentrations of potentially unknown substances by semi-quantification in liquid chromatography electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. *Anal. Chim. Acta* doi:10.1016/j.aca.2017.03.054.
- 39. Liuni, P. & Wilson, D. J. Understanding and optimizing electrospray ionization techniques for proteomic analysis. *Expert Rev. Proteomics* **8**, 197–209 (2011).
- 40. Beccaria, M. & Cabooter, D. Current developments in LC-MS for pharmaceutical analysis. *Analyst* 145, 1129–1157 (2020).
- 41. Cole, R. B. *Electrospray and MALDI Mass Spectrometry: Fundamentals, Instrumentation, Practicalities, and Biological Applications, Second Edition.* (John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2010).
- Leitner, A., Emmert, J., Boerner, K. & Lindner, W. Influence of Solvent Additive Composition on Chromatographic Separation and Sodium Adduct Formation of Peptides in HPLC–ESI MS. *Chromatographia* 65, 649–653 (2007).
- 43. Jonkers, N., Govers, H. & De Voogt, P. Adduct formation in LC–ESI–MS of nonylphenol ethoxylates: mass spectrometrical, theoretical and quantitative analytical aspects. *Anal. Chim. Acta* **531**, 217–228 (2005).
- 44. Kruve, A. & Kaupmees, K. Adduct Formation in ESI/MS by Mobile Phase Additives. J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 28, 887–894 (2017).
- 45. Erngren, I. *et al.* Adduct formation in electrospray ionisation-mass spectrometry with hydrophilic interaction liquid chromatography is strongly affected by the inorganic ion concentration of the samples. *J. Chromatogr. A* **1600**, 174–182 (2019).
- Sugimura, N., Furuya, A., Yatsu, T. & Shibue, T. Prediction of Adducts on Positive Mode Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry: Proton/Sodium Selectivity in Methanol Solutions: *Eur. J. Mass Spectrom.* (2015) doi:10.1255/ejms.1389.
- Crescenzi, C., Di Corcia, A., Guerriero, E. & Samperi, R. Development of a Multiresidue Method for Analyzing Pesticide Traces in Water Based on Solid-Phase Extraction and Electrospray Liquid Chromatography Mass Spectrometry. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 31, 479–488 (1997).
- Wang, Y., Du, S. & Armstrong, D. W. Sensitive analysis of N-blocked amino acids using high-performance liquid chromatography with paired ion electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* **410**, 4725–4735 (2018).
- 49. Yang, X. J. *et al.* Effect of ammonium on liquid- and gas-phase protonation and deprotonation in electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. *Analyst* **138**, 659–665 (2012).
- Du, J., Li, Y., Zhu, Z., Chen, Y. & Zhao, Y. Rearrangement mechanism of the sodium adducts of Fmoc protected amino acids. *Chin. Sci. Bull.* 48, 2317–2319 (2003).
- 51. Dziadosz, M., Weller, J.-P., Klintschar, M. & Teske, J. Adduct supported analysis of γ-hydroxybutyrate in human serum with LC-MS/MS. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* **405**, 6595–6597 (2013).
- 52. Halket, J. M. *et al.* Chemical derivatization and mass spectral libraries in metabolic profiling by GC/MS and LC/MS/MS. *J. Exp. Bot.* **56**, 219–243 (2005).

- Dührkop, K., Shen, H., Meusel, M., Rousu, J. & Böcker, S. Searching molecular structure databases with tandem mass spectra using CSI:FingerID. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **112**, 12580–12585 (2015).
- Domon, B. & Costello, C. E. A systematic nomenclature for carbohydrate fragmentations in FAB-MS/MS spectra of glycoconjugates. *Glycoconj. J.* 5, 397–409 (1988).
- 55. Paizs, B. & Suhai, S. Fragmentation pathways of protonated peptides. *Mass Spectrom. Rev.* 24, 508–548 (2005).
- 56. Demarque, D. P., Crotti, A. E. M., Vessecchi, R., Lopes, J. L. C. & Lopes, N. P. Fragmentation reactions using electrospray ionization mass spectrometry: an important tool for the structural elucidation and characterization of synthetic and natural products. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* 33, 432–455 (2016).
- 57. Schymanski, E. L. *et al.* Identifying Small Molecules via High Resolution Mass Spectrometry: Communicating Confidence. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **48**, 2097–2098 (2014).
- 58. Anderegg, R. J. Derivatization in mass spectrometry: Strategies for controlling fragmentation. *Mass Spectrom. Rev.* 7, 395–424 (1988).
- Zaia, J. & Biemann, K. Comparison of charged derivatives for high energy collision-induced dissociation tandem mass spectrometry. J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 6, 428–436 (1995).
- Bernal, J. L., Nozal, M. J., Toribio, L., Diego, J. C. & Ruiz, A. A comparative study of several HPLC methods for determining free amino acid profiles in honey. *J. Sep. Sci.* 28, 1039–1047 (2005).
- Alcázar, A. *et al.* Differentiation of Green, White, Black, Oolong, and Pu-erh Teas According to Their Free Amino Acids Content. J. Agric. Food Chem. 55, 5960– 5965 (2007).
- Fernández-Fígares, I., Rodríguez, L. C. & González-Casado, A. Effect of different matrices on physiological amino acids analysis by liquid chromatography: evaluation and correction of the matrix effect. J. Chromatogr. B 799, 73–79 (2004).
- 63. Uutela, P., Ketola, R. A., Piepponen, P. & Kostiainen, R. Comparison of different amino acid derivatives and analysis of rat brain microdialysates by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. *Anal. Chim. Acta* **633**, 223–231 (2009).
- 64. Gómez-Ariza, J. L., Villegas-Portero, M. J. & Bernal-Daza, V. Characterization and analysis of amino acids in orange juice by HPLC–MS/MS for authenticity assessment. *Anal. Chim. Acta* **540**, 221–230 (2005).
- Rebane, R. & Herodes, K. Evaluation of the Botanical Origin of Estonian Uni- and Polyfloral Honeys by Amino Acid Content. J. Agric. Food Chem. 56, 10716–10720 (2008).
- Díaz, R., Ibáñez, M., Sancho, J. V. & Hernández, F. Target and non-target screening strategies for organic contaminants, residues and illicit substances in food, environmental and human biological samples by UHPLC-QTOF-MS. *Anal. Methods* 4, 196–209 (2012).
- 67. Shao, B., Li, H., Shen, J. & Wu, Y. Nontargeted Detection Methods for Food Safety and Integrity. *Annu. Rev. Food Sci. Technol.* **10**, 429–455 (2019).
- Ekborgott, K. H. & Armstrong, D. W. Evaluation of the concentration and enantiomeric purity of selected free amino acids in fermented malt beverages (beers). *Chirality* 8, 49–57 (1996).
- 69. Takahashi, K. et al. Comprehensive analysis of dipeptides in alcoholic beverages by tag-based separation and determination using liquid chromatography/electro-

spray ionization tandem mass spectrometry and quadrupole-time-of-flight mass spectrometry. J. Chromatogr. A **1242**, 17–25 (2012).

- Tassoni, A., Zappi, A., Melucci, D., Reisch, B. I. & Davies, P. J. Seasonal changes in amino acids and phenolic compounds in fruits from hybrid cross populations of American grapes differing in disease resistance. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.* 135, 182– 193 (2019).
- 71. Tenbrink, B., Damink, C., Joosten, H. & Tveld, J. Occurrence and Formation of Biologically-Active Amines in Foods. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **11**, 73–84 (1990).
- 72. Biji, K. B., Ravishankar, C. N., Venkateswarlu, R., Mohan, C. O. & Gopal, T. K. S. Biogenic amines in seafood: a review. *J. Food Sci. Technol.* **53**, 2210–2218 (2016).
- Luis Ordonez, J., Maria Troncoso, A., Garcia-Parrilla, M. C. & Maria Callejon, R. Recent trends in the determination of biogenic amines in fermented beverages - A review. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 939, 10–25 (2016).
- Zhang, H., Zhou, F. & Krull, I. Comparison of 9-Fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl and 9-Fluoreneacetyl-Tagged Silica-Based Derivatization Reagents in High-Performance Liquid-Chromatography. J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 10, 577–586 (1992).
- 75. Li, Q. Z., Huang, Q. X., Li, S. C., Yang, M. Z. & Rao, B. Simultaneous Determination of Glutamate, Glycine, and Alanine in Human Plasma Using Precolumn Derivatization with 6-Aminoquinolyl-N-hydroxysuccinimidyl Carbamate and High-Performance Liquid Chromatography. *Korean J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 16, 355–360 (2012).
- Boni, R. L., Simpson, J. T., Naritsin, D. B., Saito, K. & Markey, S. P. Quantification of L-tryptophan and L-kynurenine by liquid chromatography/electron capture negative ion chemical ionization mass spectrometry. *Biol. Mass Spectrom.* 23, 27–32 (1994).
- Roth, K. D. W., Huang, Z.-H., Sadagopan, N. & Watson, J. T. Charge derivatization of peptides for analysis by mass spectrometry. *Mass Spectrom. Rev.* 17, 255– 274 (1998).
- Gao, S., Zhang, Z.-P. & Karnes, H. T. Sensitivity enhancement in liquid chromatography/atmospheric pressure ionization mass spectrometry using derivatization and mobile phase additives. *J. Chromatogr. B* 825, 98–110 (2005).
- 79. Rebane, R. & Herodes, K. A sensitive method for free amino acids analysis by liquid chromatography with ultraviolet and mass spectrometric detection using precolumn derivatization with diethyl ethoxymethylenemalonate: Application to the honey analysis. *Anal. Chim. Acta* **672**, 79–84 (2010).
- 80. Hayen, H., Jachmann, N., Vogel, M. & Karst, U. LC-electron capture-APCI(–)-MS determination of nitrobenzoxadiazole derivatives. *Analyst* **128**, 1365–1372 (2003).
- 81. Development of a Selective ESI-MS Derivatization Reagent: Synthesis and Optimization for the Analysis of Aldehydes in Biological Mixtures | Analytical Chemistry. https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/ac801429w.
- Rebane, R., Rodima, T., Kütt, A. & Herodes, K. Development of amino acid derivatization reagents for liquid chromatography electrospray ionization mass spectrometric analysis and ionization efficiency measurements. *J. Chromatogr. A* 1390, 62–70 (2015).
- 83. Busch, K. L. Derivatization in Mass Spectrometry. http://www.spectroscopyonline. com/derivatization-mass-spectrometry?id=&pageID=1&sk=&date=.
- Nordström, A. *et al.* Derivatization for LC-Electrospray Ionization-MS: A Tool for Improving Reversed-Phase Separation and ESI Responses of Bases, Ribosides, and Intact Nucleotides. *Anal. Chem.* 76, 2869–2877 (2004).

- Xu, F. *et al.* Quantification of fudosteine in human plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization mass spectrometry employing precolumn derivatization with 9-fluorenylmethyl chloroformate. *J. Mass Spectrom.* 41, 685–692 (2006).
- Oldekop, M.-L., Herodes, K. & Rebane, R. Study of the matrix effects and sample dilution influence on the LC-ESI-MS/MS analysis using four derivatization reagents. J. Chromatogr. B-Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 967, 147–155 (2014).
- 87. Santa, T. Derivatization reagents in liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry. *Biomed. Chromatogr. BMC* **25**, 1–10 (2011).
- Cech, N. B. & Enke, C. G. Effect of Affinity for Droplet Surfaces on the Fraction of Analyte Molecules Charged during Electrospray Droplet Fission. *Anal. Chem.* 73, 4632–4639 (2001).
- Busch, K. L., Unger, S. E., Vincze, A., Cooks, R. G. & Keough, T. Desorption ionization mass spectrometry: sample preparation for secondary ion mass spectrometry, laser desorption, and field desorption. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 104, 1507–1511 (1982).
- Xu, F., Zou, L., Liu, Y., Zhang, Z. & Ong, C. N. Enhancement of the capabilities of liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry with derivatization: General principles and applications. *Mass Spectrom. Rev.* 30, 1143–1172.
- Liu, D. Q. & Hop, C. E. C. A. Strategies for characterization of drug metabolites using liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry in conjunction with chemical derivatization and on-line H/D exchange approaches. *J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal.* 37, 1–18 (2005).
- Tsukamoto, Y. *et al.* A further study on the combined use of internal standard and isotope-labeled derivatization reagent for expansion of linear dynamic ranges in liquid chromatography–electrospray mass spectrometry. *Biomed. Chromatogr.* 20, 1049–1055 (2006).
- 93. Shi, G. Application of co-eluting structural analog internal standards for expanded linear dynamic range in liquid chromatography/electrospray mass spectrometry. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.* **17**, 202–206 (2003).
- Song, Y., Xu, C., Kuroki, H., Liao, Y. & Tsunoda, M. Recent trends in analytical methods for the determination of amino acids in biological samples. *J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal.* 147, 35–49 (2018).
- Iwasaki, Y. *et al.* A new strategy for ionization enhancement by derivatization for mass spectrometry. J. Chromatogr. B Analyt. Technol. Biomed. Life. Sci. 879, 1159–1165 (2011).
- 96. Qi, B.-L. *et al.* Derivatization for liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. *TrAC Trends Anal. Chem.* **59**, 121–132 (2014).
- 27. Lkhagva, A., Shen, C.-C., Leung, Y.-S. & Tai, H.-C. Comparative study of five different amine-derivatization methods for metabolite analyses by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. J. Chromatogr. A 1610, 460536 (2020).
- Rebane, R., Oldekop, M.-L. & Herodes, K. Comparison of amino acid derivatization reagents for LC–ESI-MS analysis. Introducing a novel phosphazene-based derivatization reagent. J. Chromatogr. B 904, 99–106 (2012).
- Oldekop, M.-L., Herodes, K. & Rebane, R. Comparison of amino acid derivatization reagents for liquid chromatography atmospheric pressure chemical ionization mass spectrometric analysis of seven amino acids in tea extract. *Int. J. Mass Spectrom.* 421, 189–195 (2017).

- Desai, M. J. & Armstrong, D. W. Analysis of derivatized and underivatized theanine enantiomers by high-performance liquid chromatography/atmospheric pressure ionization-mass spectrometry. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.* 18, 251– 256 (2004).
- Luo, K., Gao, Q. & Hu, J. Derivatization method for sensitive determination of 3hydroxybenzo[a]pyrene in human urine by liquid chromatography–electrospray tandem mass spectrometry. J. Chromatogr. A 1379, 51–55 (2015).
- Rebane, R., Herodes, K. & Leito, I. Analysis of selenomethylselenocysteine and selenomethionine by LC-ESI-MS/MS with diethyl ethoxymethylenemalonate derivatization. *Analyst* 136, 5241–5246 (2011).
- 103. Alaiz, M., Navarro, J., Giron, J. & Vioque, E. Amino-Acid-Analysis by High-Performance Liquid-Chromatography After Derivatization with Diethyl Ethoxymethylenemalonate. J. Chromatogr. 591, 181–186 (1992).
- 104. Gornischeff, A., Liigand, J. & Rebane, R. A systematic approach toward comparing electrospray ionization efficiencies of derivatized and non-derivatized amino acids and biogenic amines. J. Mass Spectrom. 53, 997–1004 (2018).
- Shimbo, K., Yahashi, A., Hirayama, K., Nakazawa, M. & Miyano, H. Multifunctional and Highly Sensitive Precolumn Reagents for Amino Acids in Liquid Chromatography/Tandem Mass Spectrometry. *Anal. Chem.* 81, 5172–5179 (2009).
- 106. Karakawa, S. *et al.* Simultaneous analysis of d-alanine, d-aspartic acid, and dserine using chiral high-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry and its application to the rat plasma and tissues. *J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal.* **115**, 123–129 (2015).
- 107. Sharma, G. *et al.* Analysis of 26 amino acids in human plasma by HPLC using AQC as derivatizing agent and its application in metabolic laboratory. *Amino Acids* **46**, 1253–1263 (2014).
- 108. Hosokawa, S., Nakamura, K., Fujita, Y., Horiuchi, R. & Yamamoto, K. Determination of isepamicin in human plasma by HPLC with fluorescence detection after derivatization using 6-aminoquinolyl-N-hydroxysuccinimidyl-carbamate. *Biol. Pharm. Bull.* **31**, 1866–1869 (2008).
- Nakamura, H. *et al.* Measurement of 15N enrichment of glutamine and urea cycle amino acids derivatized with 6-aminoquinolyl-N-hydroxysuccinimidyl carbamate using liquid chromatography-tandem quadrupole mass spectrometry. *Anal. Biochem.* 476, 67–77 (2015).
- 110. AccQ-Tag Ultra Derivatization Kit : Waters. https://www.waters.com/waters/partDetail.htm?partNumber=186003836.
- 111. EZfaast<sup>TM</sup> Amino Acid Analysis Kits. https://www.phenomenex.com/Products/AminoAcidDetail/EZfaast.
- 112. Application Kits. *Pickering Laboratories* https://www.pickeringlabs.com/products/analysis-products/application-kits/.
- 113. 5190–9426 | Agilent. https://www.agilent.com/store/en\_US/Prod-5190-9426/ 5190-9426.
- 114. aTRAQ Kit for Amino Acid Analysis of Physiological Fluids | SCIEX. https://sciex.com/products/consumables/atraq-kit-for-amino-acid-analysis-ofphysiological-fluids.
- 115. Redruello, B. *et al.* A fast, reliable, ultra high performance liquid chromatography method for the simultaneous determination of amino acids, biogenic amines and

ammonium ions in cheese, using diethyl ethoxymethylenemalonate as a derivatising agent. *Food Chem.* **139**, 1029–1035 (2013).

- 116. Hermosín, I., Chicón, R. M. & Dolores Cabezudo, M. Free amino acid composition and botanical origin of honey. *Food Chem.* **83**, 263–268 (2003).
- 117. Wang, Y.-Q., Ye, D.-Q., Zhu, B.-Q., Wu, G.-F. & Duan, C.-Q. Rapid HPLC analysis of amino acids and biogenic amines in wines during fermentation and evaluation of matrix effect. *Food Chem.* **163**, 6–15 (2014).
- 118. Zhou, P. *et al.* Determination of 21 free amino acids in 5 types of tea by ultrahigh performance liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry (UHPLC-MS/MS) using a modified 6-aminoquinolyl-N-hydroxysuccinimidyl carbamate (AQC) method. *J. Food Compos. Anal.* **81**, 46–54 (2019).
- 119. Li, M. *et al.* Determination of free amino acids in tea by a novel method of reversed-phase high performance liquid chromatography applying 6-Amino-quinolyl-N-Hydroxysuccinimidyl carbamate reagent. *J. Food Sci. Technol.-Mysore* **55**, 4276–4286 (2018).
- 120. Berbegal, C., Pardo, I. & Ferrer, S. The use of core-shell high-performance liquid chromatography column technology to improve biogenic amine quantification in wine. J. Sci. Food Agric. 96, 1556–1561 (2016).
- 121. Naffa, R. *et al.* Comparison of liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection to liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry for amino acid analysis with derivatisation by 6-aminoquinolyl-N-hydroxysuccinimidyl-carbamate: Applications for analysis of amino acids in skin. *Arab. J. Chem.* **13**, 3997–4008 (2020).
- 122. Carretta, L., Cardinali, A., Marotta, E., Zanin, G. & Masin, R. A new rapid procedure for simultaneous determination of glyphosate and AMPA in water at sub μg/L level. J. Chromatogr. A 1600, 65–72 (2019).
- Kabelova, I., Dvorakova, M., Cizkova, H., Dostalek, P. & Melzoch, K. Determination of free amino acids in cheeses from the Czech market. *Czech J. Food Sci.* 27, 143–150 (2009).
- Kabelova, I., Dvorakova, M., Cizkova, H., Dostalek, P. & Melzoch, K. Determination of free amino acids in beers: A comparison of Czech and foreign brands. J. Food Compos. Anal. 21, 736–741 (2008).
- 125. Čížková, H., Hofta, P., Kolouchová, I. & Dostálek, P. Význam aminokyselin v pivovarství a nové postupy jejich stanovení. *Kvas. Prům.* 51, 47–51 (2005).
- 126. Fiechter, G. & Mayer, H. K. UPLC analysis of free amino acids in wines: Profiling of on-lees aged wines. J. Chromatogr. B-Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 879, 1361–1366 (2011).
- 127. Tang, L. & Kebarle, P. Dependence of Ion Intensity in Electrospray Mass-Spectrometry on the Concentration of the Analytes in the Electrosprayed Solution. *Anal. Chem.* **65**, 3654–3668 (1993).
- 128. Mirzaei, H. & Regnier, F. Enhancing electrospray ionization efficiency of peptides by derivatization. *Anal. Chem.* **78**, 4175–4183 (2006).
- 129. Alaiz, M. et al. Esterification of Amino Acids as Their 2,2-Bis(ethoxy-carbonyl)vinyl Derivatives. Synthesis 1989, 544–547 (1989).
- 130. Oldekop, M.-L. CHaracterization of amino acid derivatization reagents for LC-ESI-MS analysis. (2013).
- 131. Leito, I. *et al.* Towards the electrospray ionization mass spectrometry ionization efficiency scale of organic compounds. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.* **22**, 379–384 (2008).

- 132. Chicon, R., Hermosin, I. & Cabezudo, M. D. Metodo de analisis de los aminoa cidos libres y del io' n amonio en vinos y mostos, por HPLC tras derivatizacion con etoximetile' nmalonato de dietilo (EMMDE). *Tecnol Vin* 1, 95–100 (2001).
- 133. Zhou, S. L. & Hamburger, M. Effects of solvent composition on molecular ion response in electrospray mass spectrometry: Investigation of the ionization processes. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.* **9**, 1516–1521 (1995).
- 134. Jensen, P. K., Wujcik, C. E., McGuire, M. K. & McGuire, M. A. Validation of reliable and selective methods for direct determination of glyphosate and aminomethylphosphonic acid in milk and urine using LC-MS/MS. *J. Environ. Sci. Health Part B* **51**, 254–259 (2016).
- 135. Goodwin, L., Startin, J. R., Goodall, D. M. & Keely, B. J. Negative ion electrospray mass spectrometry of aminomethylphosphonic acid and glyphosate: elucidation of fragmentation mechanisms by multistage mass spectrometry incorporating in-source deuterium labelling. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.* 18, 37–43 (2004).
- Liigand, J., Kruve, A., Leito, I., Girod, M. & Antoine, R. Effect of Mobile Phase on Electrospray Ionization Efficiency. J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 25, 1853– 1861 (2014).
- 137. Kruve, A. Influence of mobile phase, source parameters and source type on electrospray ionization efficiency in negative ion mode: Influence of mobile phase in ESI/MS. *J. Mass Spectrom.* **51**, 596–601 (2016).
- Liigand, P., Kaupmees, K. & Kruve, A. Ionization Efficiency of Doubly Charged Ions Formed from Polyprotic Acids in Electrospray Negative Mode. J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 27, 1211–1218 (2016).
- 139. Wujcik, C. E. & Kadar, E. P. Reduction of in-source collision-induced dissociation and thermolysis of sulopenem prodrugs for quantitative liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization mass spectrometric analysis by promoting sodium adduct formation. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.* **22**, 3195–3206 (2008).
- 140. Otoki, Y. *et al.* Accurate quantitation of choline and ethanolamine plasmalogen molecular species in human plasma by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal.* **134**, 77–85 (2017).
- 141. Vu, D. L., Ranglová, K., Hájek, J. & Hrouzek, P. Quantification of methionine and selenomethionine in biological samples using multiple reaction monitoring high performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (MRM-HPLC-MS/MS). J. Chromatogr. B 1084, 36–44 (2018).

### SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN

# Derivatiseeritud ainete ionisatsiooniefektiivsuste uurimine LC/ESI/MS jaoks ja nende rakendamine suunatud analüüsiks

Vedelikkromatograafia elektropihustus-ionisatsiooni massispektromeetria LC/ ESI/MS(MS) on kõige mitmekülgsem ja võimsam analüüsimeetod sadade erinevatest maatriksitest pärit analüütide määramiseks väga väikestes kogustes. Kuni tänapäevani kasutatakse enamikus uuringutes, meetodites ja rakendustes vaatlusaluste analüütide kvantitatiivseks määramiseks standardaineid, sest molekulide ioniseerumise efektiivsus võib ionisatsiooniallikas erineda mitmeid miljoneid kordi. Mittesuunatud analüüsi jaoks (ingl *nontargeted*) on varasemalt koostatud ionisatsiooniefektiivsuse skaalasid (log*IE*), et seda probleemi osaliselt skriinimismeetodite jaoks lahendada. Selle doktoritöö eesmärk oli pakkuda lahendus standardainete elimineerimiseks suunatud (ingl *targeted*) analüüsi jaoks derivatiseeritud ühendite analüüsiks MRM mõõtmise režiimis.

Esiteks oli vaja välja töötada log*IE* mõõtmise meetod derivatiseeritud ainete jaoks, sest seni kasutusel olnud meetod, mida peamiselt kasutati puhaste ainete jaoks, ei sobinud. Selleks uuriti, kuidas derivatiseerimine (aine spetsiifiliste omaduste muutmine) muudab ionisatsiooniefektiivsust (IE) ESI allikas ning võrreldi erinevate analüütiliste tingimuste komplekte nagu eluendi koostis ja kromatograafiakolonni lisamine, et hinnata, kuidas need omakorda mõjutavad IEd. Samuti ei saa derivatiseeritud ühendeid segus mõõta ilma kolonnita, nagu seni tehtud puhaste ühendite puhul. Selle tulemusel töötati välja kromatograafiline meetod erinevate ühendite, peamiselt derivatiseeritud aminohapete ja biogeensete amiinide, IE mõõtmiseks ja hindamiseks, mis on olulised koostisosad erinevates toiduainetes ja jookides. Oli selgelt näha, et derivatiseerimine suurendab enamikul juhtudel IE-d. Tulemused seoti ka varem mõõdetud IE skaaladega, et laiendada olemasolevate skaalade kasutusvõimalusi.

Koos log*IE* uuringutega uuriti ka naatrium-addukti moodustumist ja ESI negatiivsete ioonide tekkimist negatiivses režiimis. Üldiselt täheldati, et naatrium-addukti moodustumine positiivses ja deprotoneerimine negatiivsete ioonide režiimis (tingimustes, mis on pigem sobilikud positiivse iooni tekkel) on väga ebakorrapärane ja korrelatsiooni ei olnud võimalik erinevate režiimide vahel tõmmata. Kuid ühel juhul, PrCl-ga derivatiseeritud aminohapetega, tehti üks huvitav tähelepanek, kus positiivse iooni tekkimise ja naatriumi adduktide tekkimise vahel saavutati nõrk ( $R^2 = 0.5$ ) korrelatsioon.

Järgnevalt võrreldi, kuidas erinevad ionisatsiooniallikad ja eluendid log*IE* suhtes korreleeruvad. Selleks tehti nelja erineva seadistusega ühendikomplektide mõõtmine. Oli näha, et atmosfäärirõhu keemilise ionisatsiooni (APCI) allika korral pole log*IE* ja kromatograafilise meetodi log*Slope* vaheline korrelatsioon metanooli või atseetonitriili kasutamisel nii hea ( $R^2 = 0.42$ ) ja tõenäoliselt oleks vead suured, kui soovitakse ennustada kromatograafilise meetodi
tundlikkust sama süsteemi log*IE* väärtuste põhjal. Kuid ESI allika puhul täheldati pisut kõrgemat korrelatsiooni ( $R^2 = 0.71$  ja 0.79) ja sel juhul oleks ilma kromatograafilise kolonnita mõõdetud log*IE* väärtused kromatograafilise meetodi tundlikkuse hindamiseks kummagi lahustiga väga kasulikud.

Kuna enamus tänapäevaseid analüüsirakendusi kasutavad MS/MS süsteemi, siis järgmine eesmärk oli hinnata mõõdetud log*IE* väärtuste korrelatsiooni MS/MS tundlikkusfaktoriga (RF), mis annaks võimaluse kasutada RFi analüütide sisalduse hindamiseks suunatud analüüsil. Leiti, et AQC korral on väga kõrge korrelatsioon ( $R^2 = 0.80$ ) log*IE* ja log*RF* vahel, mis tähendab, et log*IE* väärtused näitavad suure täpsusega log*RF* väärtusi. Sellest saab tuletada käesoleva doktoritöö lõpliku eesmärgi.

Kuna suunatud analüüsi käigus saavutatakse ühendite määramisel madalad määramispiirid, oleks väga kasulik kasutada  $\log RF$  väärtusi analüüdi kontsentratsiooni määramiseks ilma standardaineteta erinevates maatriksites. See meetod näitas head korrelatsiooni  $\log IE$  ja  $\log RF$  väärtuste vahel, mida kasutati õlle, veini ja tee aminohapete kontsentratsiooni hindamiseks. Mõlemad hinnangud ( $\log IE$  ja  $\log RF$ ) näitasid väga kõrget korrelatsiooni võrreldes kalibreerimisgrafiku meetodiga ning see valideeriti ka selle tõesuse ja muude parameetrit osas. Väljatöötatud meetod oleks kasulik vahend, et muuta suunatud analüüs väga tõhusaks paljude analüütide jaoks korraga, ja hinnata nende kontsentratsiooni, mille abil on võimalik võltsitud jooke eristada õigetest jookidest.

Nagu käesoleva doktoritöö raames välja töötatud meetod näitas, on standardainete vaba analüüdisisalduse määramine võimalik ka suunatud MS/MS analüüsi korral. See avab paljusid võimalusi erinevate rakenduste jaoks, mida on võimalik laiendada ka teistele derivatiseerivatele reagentidele ja analüütidele.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Riin Rebane, who guided me through these years of my doctoral studies and helped me to keep calm. She, by the way, was also my coursemate, and introduced me to the complex, yet interesting world of analytical chemistry and was willing to be my supervisor.

I would like to thank University of Tartu and Institute of Chemistry and colleagues thereof during my studies between 2003 to 2020. Special thanks to the following persons: Dr. Anneli, Dr. Jaanus and professor Dr. Ivo Leito, who shared their thoughts and knowledge and helped me to publish my work. Also, Dr Toonika Rinken, who was my supervisor during BSc, MSc and in the beginning of my doctoral studies, without whom I probably wouldn't be here today.

I would also like to thank my employer Estonian Environmental Research Centre, who allowed me to perform analytical measurements in its laboratory and colleagues thereof, who were accommodating all time along.

And lastly, my sincerest gratitude belongs to all my family, especially to Kiira and Johannes, who patiently waited years, that their husband and father (*doktor issi*) can spend more time with them after finishing studies (finally).

For financial support, I thank Estonian Ministry of Education and Research (Institutional funding IUT20-14, TLOKT14014I) and Estonian Research Council (personal research funding PUT1589 and PRG300).

# APPENDIX

Compound name	<i>m/z</i> [M+H]+ underivatized	<i>m/z</i> [M+H]+ derivatized	log <i>IE</i> underivatized	log <i>IE</i> derivatized	Absolute log <i>IE</i> change	MW, g/mol
ET4N+	130 (M+)	-	-	-	-	130
AMPA	112	282	0.22	2.66	2.44	111
Asparagine	133	303	0.95	2.21	1.26	132
Aspartic acid	134	304	0.98	2.73	1.75	133
Histamine	112	282	1.80	3.23	1.43	111
Cysteine	122	292	2.16	1.85	-0.31	121
Serine	106	276	2.17	2.87	0.70	105
Histidine	156	326	2.22	3.41	3.22	155
Proline	116	286	2.24	2.16	-0.08	115
Selenocysteine	169	306	2.28	3.41	1.13	168
Spermidine	146	316	2.31	2.68	0.37	145
Threonine	120	290	2.47	3.08	0.60	119
Glutamine	147	317	2.51	3.02	0.51	146
Arginine	175	345	2.57	3.18	0.62	174
Lysine	147	317	2.58	3.55	0.97	146
Selenomethionine	197	367	2.60	3.03	0.43	196
Tryptophan	205	375	2.61	3.45	0.83	204
Glutamic acid	148	318	2.69	3.16	0.47	147
Valine	118	288	2.75	3.23	0.48	117
Methionine	150	320	3.10	3.39	0.29	149
Normetanephrine	184	354	3.11	2.76	-0.35	183
Isoleucine	132	302	3.22	3.31	0.09	131
Leucine	132	302	3.27	3.42	0.15	131
Metanephrine	198	368	3.60	2.87	-0.74	197
Phenyl-alanine	166	336	3.61	3.28	-0.33	165

 Table S1. logIE values of measured DEEMM-derivatized compounds.

Compound	Precursor	Product
name	m/z	ion, <i>m/z</i>
Cystine	497	248
		437
		306
Tyrosine	396	136
		308
		336
Histidine	370	196
		110
		284
Lysine	361	301
		170
Ornithine	347	287
		156
		227
Tryptophan	333	245
		273
		230
α-Aminoadipic		
acid	332	244
		272
Glutamic acid	318	172
		258
		230
Citrulline	304	156
		113
		244
		287
Aspartic acid	304	216
-		130
		244
Arginine	303	70
		156
		286
1-Methyl-histidine	298	96
		196
3-Methyl-histidine	298	210
Phenylalanine	294	206
-		120
Methionine	278	190
		218
Glutamine	275	172
		84
		215

Compound	Precursor	Product
name	m/z	ion, <i>m/z</i>
Isoleucine	260	172
		130
		74
4-Hydroxyproline	260	157
Threonine	248	160
		188
		230
Valine	246	158
		116
		186
Proline	244	156
		114
		184
Asparagine	243	157
		115
		201
Serine	234	146
		174
		216
4-Aminobutyric		
acid	232	172
		130
β-Aminoisobutyric		
acid	232	172
		130
α-Aminobutyric	222	170
acid	232	1/2
A.1 .	210	144
Alanine	218	130
	210	88
Sarcosine	218	88
	204	130
Glycine	204	144
		118
		162

 Table S2. MRM transitions for PrCl reagent

\_

	Trueness for	log/E <sub>scan</sub> method	97.4	59.8	6.69	74.0	112.5	82.4	67.6	68.4	77.6	97.1	72.8	NaN	75.6	63.3	63.3	105.5	66.2	84.7	65.5	61.3	70.8	69.1
	Trueness for	logRF <sub>MRM</sub> method	NaN	46.8	94.8	59.0	87.5	79.5	73.8	70.0	79.5	122.4	15.0	3.4	73.1	NaN	74.4	NaN	62.2	61.8	67.2	71.3	75.6	69.1
	Sample	type	Beer	Beer	Beer	Beer	Beer	Beer	Beer	Beer	Beer	Beer	Beer	Beer	Beer	Beer	Beer	Beer	Beer	Beer	Beer	Beer	Beer	Beer
		Compound	AAA	ALA	ARG	ASN	ASP	ßAIB	CIT	GABA	GLN	GLU	GLY	SIH	НҮР	LYS	MET	ORN	PHE	SER	THR	TRP	TYR	VAL
I																								
	Trueness for	log/E <sub>scan</sub> method	NaN	59.8	6.69	74.0	112.5	82.4	69.5	67.6	68.4	NaN	97.1	72.8	75.6	63.3	63.3	105.5	66.2	84.7	65.5	61.3	70.8	69.1
	Trueness for	logRF <sub>MRM</sub> method	73.7	46.8	94.8	59.0	87.5	79.5	NaN	73.8	70.0	79.5	122.4	15.0	73.1	NaN	74.4	NaN	62.2	61.8	67.2	71.3	75.6	69.1
	Sample	type	Wine	Wine	Wine	Wine	Wine	Wine	Wine	Wine	Wine	Wine	Wine	Wine	Wine	Wine	Wine	Wine	Wine	Wine	Wine	Wine	Wine	Wine
		Compound	ABA	ALA	ARG	ASN	ASP	ßAIB	C-C	CIT	GABA	GLN	GLU	GLY	НҮР	LYS	MET	ORN	PHE	SER	THR	TRP	TYR	VAL

Table S3. The trueness values for amino acids and amines determined with  $\log RF_{MRM}$  and  $\log IE_{scan}$  method.

PUBLICATIONS

## CURRICULUM VITAE

Name:	Artur Gornischeff
Date of birth:	August 1, 1984
Citizenship:	Estonian
Address:	Institute of Chemistry, Ravila 14a, 50411, Tartu, Eesti
Phone:	+372 5690 4649
E-mail:	gornischeff@hotmail.com

### Education

2009–	University of Tartu, PhD (Chemistry)
2007-2009	University of Tartu, MSc (Chemistry)
2003-2007	University of Tartu, BSc (Chemistry)

### Work experience

2011	Estonian Environmental Research Centre, Fuel Quality and
	Customs Services Department
2008-2011	State Agency of Medicines, laboratory

### Scientific publications

- 1. **Gornischeff, Artur**; Kruve, Anneli; Rebane, Riin (2020). Characterization of wines with liquid chromatography electrospray ionization mass spectrometry: quantification of amino acids via ionization efficiency values. Journal of Chromatography A, 1620:461012, 1–7.
- Rebane, Riin; Kruve, Anneli; Liigand, Jaanus; Liigand, Piia; Gornischeff, Artur; Leito, Ivo (2019). Ionization efficiency ladders as tools for choosing ionization mode and solvent in liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry, 33 (23), 1834–1843.
- 3. Gornischeff, Artur; Liigand, Jaanus; Rebane, Riin (2018). A systematic approach toward comparing electrospray ionization efficiencies of derivatized and non-derivatized amino acids and biogenic amines. Journal of mass spectrometry, 53 (10), 997–1004.
- 4. **Gornischeff, Artur**; Rinken, Toonika (2011). Calculating the output signal parameters of a lactose bienzymatic biosensing system from the transient phase response. Proceedings of the Estonian Academy of Science, 60 (2), 136–140.

## ELULOOKIRJELDUS

Nimi:	Artur Gornischeff
Sünniaeg:	1. august 1984
Kodakondsus:	Eesti
Aadress:	Keemia Instituut, Ravila 14a, 50411, Tartu, Eesti
Telefon:	+372 5690 4649
E-post:	gornischeff@hotmail.com

### Haridus

2009–…	Tartu Ülikool, doktoriõpe (Keemia)
2007-2009	Tartu Ülikool, MSc (Keemia)
2003-2007	Tartu Ülikool, BSc (Keemia)

### Erialane töökogemus

2011	Eesti Keskkonnauuringute Keskus OÜ, Kütusekvaliteedi ja
	tolliteenuste osakond
2008-2011	Ravimiamet, labor

### Publikatsioonide loetelu

- 1. **Gornischeff, Artur**; Kruve, Anneli; Rebane, Riin (2020). Characterization of wines with liquid chromatography electrospray ionization mass spectrometry: quantification of amino acids via ionization efficiency values. Journal of Chromatography A, 1620:461012, 1–7.
- Rebane, Riin; Kruve, Anneli; Liigand, Jaanus; Liigand, Piia; Gornischeff, Artur; Leito, Ivo (2019). Ionization efficiency ladders as tools for choosing ionization mode and solvent in liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry, 33 (23), 1834–1843.
- 3. Gornischeff, Artur; Liigand, Jaanus; Rebane, Riin (2018). A systematic approach toward comparing electrospray ionization efficiencies of derivatized and non-derivatized amino acids and biogenic amines. Journal of mass spectrometry, 53 (10), 997–1004.
- 4. **Gornischeff, Artur**; Rinken, Toonika (2011). Calculating the output signal parameters of a lactose bienzymatic biosensing system from the transient phase response. Proceedings of the Estonian Academy of Science, 60 (2), 136–140.

## DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

- 1. **Toomas Tamm.** Quantum-chemical simulation of solvent effects. Tartu, 1993, 110 p.
- 2. **Peeter Burk.** Theoretical study of gas-phase acid-base equilibria. Tartu, 1994, 96 p.
- 3. Victor Lobanov. Quantitative structure-property relationships in large descriptor spaces. Tartu, 1995, 135 p.
- 4. Vahur Mäemets. The <sup>17</sup>O and <sup>1</sup>H nuclear magnetic resonance study of H<sub>2</sub>O in individual solvents and its charged clusters in aqueous solutions of electrolytes. Tartu, 1997, 140 p.
- 5. Andrus Metsala. Microcanonical rate constant in nonequilibrium distribution of vibrational energy and in restricted intramolecular vibrational energy redistribution on the basis of slater's theory of unimolecular reactions. Tartu, 1997, 150 p.
- 6. Uko Maran. Quantum-mechanical study of potential energy surfaces in different environments. Tartu, 1997, 137 p.
- 7. Alar Jänes. Adsorption of organic compounds on antimony, bismuth and cadmium electrodes. Tartu, 1998, 219 p.
- 8. **Kaido Tammeveski.** Oxygen electroreduction on thin platinum films and the electrochemical detection of superoxide anion. Tartu, 1998, 139 p.
- 9. Ivo Leito. Studies of Brønsted acid-base equilibria in water and nonaqueous media. Tartu, 1998, 101 p.
- 10. **Jaan Leis.** Conformational dynamics and equilibria in amides. Tartu, 1998, 131 p.
- 11. **Toonika Rinken.** The modelling of amperometric biosensors based on oxidoreductases. Tartu, 2000, 108 p.
- 12. Dmitri Panov. Partially solvated Grignard reagents. Tartu, 2000, 64 p.
- 13. Kaja Orupõld. Treatment and analysis of phenolic wastewater with microorganisms. Tartu, 2000, 123 p.
- 14. Jüri Ivask. Ion Chromatographic determination of major anions and cations in polar ice core. Tartu, 2000, 85 p.
- 15. Lauri Vares. Stereoselective Synthesis of Tetrahydrofuran and Tetrahydropyran Derivatives by Use of Asymmetric Horner-Wadsworth-Emmons and Ring Closure Reactions. Tartu, 2000, 184 p.
- 16. **Martin Lepiku.** Kinetic aspects of dopamine D<sub>2</sub> receptor interactions with specific ligands. Tartu, 2000, 81 p.
- 17. **Katrin Sak.** Some aspects of ligand specificity of P2Y receptors. Tartu, 2000, 106 p.
- 18. Vello Pällin. The role of solvation in the formation of iotsitch complexes. Tartu, 2001, 95 p.
- 19. Katrin Kollist. Interactions between polycyclic aromatic compounds and humic substances. Tartu, 2001, 93 p.

- 20. **Ivar Koppel.** Quantum chemical study of acidity of strong and superstrong Brønsted acids. Tartu, 2001, 104 p.
- 21. Viljar Pihl. The study of the substituent and solvent effects on the acidity of OH and CH acids. Tartu, 2001, 132 p.
- 22. **Natalia Palm.** Specification of the minimum, sufficient and significant set of descriptors for general description of solvent effects. Tartu, 2001, 134 p.
- 23. **Sulev Sild.** QSPR/QSAR approaches for complex molecular systems. Tartu, 2001, 134 p.
- 24. **Ruslan Petrukhin.** Industrial applications of the quantitative structureproperty relationships. Tartu, 2001, 162 p.
- 25. **Boris V. Rogovoy.** Synthesis of (benzotriazolyl)carboximidamides and their application in relations with *N* and *S*-nucleophyles. Tartu, 2002, 84 p.
- 26. Koit Herodes. Solvent effects on UV-vis absorption spectra of some solvatochromic substances in binary solvent mixtures: the preferential solvation model. Tartu, 2002, 102 p.
- 27. Anti Perkson. Synthesis and characterisation of nanostructured carbon. Tartu, 2002, 152 p.
- 28. **Ivari Kaljurand.** Self-consistent acidity scales of neutral and cationic Brønsted acids in acetonitrile and tetrahydrofuran. Tartu, 2003, 108 p.
- 29. Karmen Lust. Adsorption of anions on bismuth single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2003, 128 p.
- 30. **Mare Piirsalu.** Substituent, temperature and solvent effects on the alkaline hydrolysis of substituted phenyl and alkyl esters of benzoic acid. Tartu, 2003, 156 p.
- 31. Meeri Sassian. Reactions of partially solvated Grignard reagents. Tartu, 2003, 78 p.
- 32. **Tarmo Tamm.** Quantum chemical modelling of polypyrrole. Tartu, 2003. 100 p.
- 33. Erik Teinemaa. The environmental fate of the particulate matter and organic pollutants from an oil shale power plant. Tartu, 2003. 102 p.
- 34. Jaana Tammiku-Taul. Quantum chemical study of the properties of Grignard reagents. Tartu, 2003. 120 p.
- 35. Andre Lomaka. Biomedical applications of predictive computational chemistry. Tartu, 2003. 132 p.
- 36. Kostyantyn Kirichenko. Benzotriazole Mediated Carbon–Carbon Bond Formation. Tartu, 2003. 132 p.
- 37. **Gunnar Nurk.** Adsorption kinetics of some organic compounds on bismuth single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2003, 170 p.
- 38. **Mati Arulepp.** Electrochemical characteristics of porous carbon materials and electrical double layer capacitors. Tartu, 2003, 196 p.
- 39. **Dan Cornel Fara.** QSPR modeling of complexation and distribution of organic compounds. Tartu, 2004, 126 p.
- 40. **Riina Mahlapuu.** Signalling of galanin and amyloid precursor protein through adenylate cyclase. Tartu, 2004, 124 p.

- 41. **Mihkel Kerikmäe.** Some luminescent materials for dosimetric applications and physical research. Tartu, 2004, 143 p.
- 42. Jaanus Kruusma. Determination of some important trace metal ions in human blood. Tartu, 2004, 115 p.
- 43. Urmas Johanson. Investigations of the electrochemical properties of polypyrrole modified electrodes. Tartu, 2004, 91 p.
- 44. **Kaido Sillar.** Computational study of the acid sites in zeolite ZSM-5. Tartu, 2004, 80 p.
- 45. Aldo Oras. Kinetic aspects of dATP $\alpha$ S interaction with P2Y<sub>1</sub> receptor. Tartu, 2004, 75 p.
- 46. Erik Mölder. Measurement of the oxygen mass transfer through the airwater interface. Tartu, 2005, 73 p.
- 47. **Thomas Thomberg.** The kinetics of electroreduction of peroxodisulfate anion on cadmium (0001) single crystal electrode. Tartu, 2005, 95 p.
- 48. Olavi Loog. Aspects of condensations of carbonyl compounds and their imine analogues. Tartu, 2005, 83 p.
- 49. Siim Salmar. Effect of ultrasound on ester hydrolysis in aqueous ethanol. Tartu, 2006, 73 p.
- 50. Ain Uustare. Modulation of signal transduction of heptahelical receptors by other receptors and G proteins. Tartu, 2006, 121 p.
- 51. Sergei Yurchenko. Determination of some carcinogenic contaminants in food. Tartu, 2006, 143 p.
- 52. **Kaido Tämm.** QSPR modeling of some properties of organic compounds. Tartu, 2006, 67 p.
- 53. Olga Tšubrik. New methods in the synthesis of multisubstituted hydrazines. Tartu. 2006, 183 p.
- 54. Lilli Sooväli. Spectrophotometric measurements and their uncertainty in chemical analysis and dissociation constant measurements. Tartu, 2006, 125 p.
- 55. Eve Koort. Uncertainty estimation of potentiometrically measured ph and  $pK_a$  values. Tartu, 2006, 139 p.
- 56. Sergei Kopanchuk. Regulation of ligand binding to melanocortin receptor subtypes. Tartu, 2006, 119 p.
- 57. Silvar Kallip. Surface structure of some bismuth and antimony single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2006, 107 p.
- 58. **Kristjan Saal.** Surface silanization and its application in biomolecule coupling. Tartu, 2006, 77 p.
- 59. **Tanel Tätte.** High viscosity Sn(OBu)<sub>4</sub> oligomeric concentrates and their applications in technology. Tartu, 2006, 91 p.
- 60. **Dimitar Atanasov Dobchev**. Robust QSAR methods for the prediction of properties from molecular structure. Tartu, 2006, 118 p.
- 61. Hannes Hagu. Impact of ultrasound on hydrophobic interactions in solutions. Tartu, 2007, 81 p.
- 62. **Rutha Jäger.** Electroreduction of peroxodisulfate anion on bismuth electrodes. Tartu, 2007, 142 p.

- 63. **Kaido Viht.** Immobilizable bisubstrate-analogue inhibitors of basophilic protein kinases: development and application in biosensors. Tartu, 2007, 88 p.
- 64. Eva-Ingrid Rõõm. Acid-base equilibria in nonpolar media. Tartu, 2007, 156 p.
- 65. **Sven Tamp.** DFT study of the cesium cation containing complexes relevant to the cesium cation binding by the humic acids. Tartu, 2007, 102 p.
- 66. Jaak Nerut. Electroreduction of hexacyanoferrate(III) anion on Cadmium (0001) single crystal electrode. Tartu, 2007, 180 p.
- 67. Lauri Jalukse. Measurement uncertainty estimation in amperometric dissolved oxygen concentration measurement. Tartu, 2007, 112 p.
- 68. Aime Lust. Charge state of dopants and ordered clusters formation in CaF<sub>2</sub>:Mn and CaF<sub>2</sub>:Eu luminophors. Tartu, 2007, 100 p.
- 69. **Iiris Kahn**. Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationships of environmentally relevant properties. Tartu, 2007, 98 p.
- 70. **Mari Reinik.** Nitrates, nitrites, N-nitrosamines and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in food: analytical methods, occurrence and dietary intake. Tartu, 2007, 172 p.
- 71. **Heili Kasuk.** Thermodynamic parameters and adsorption kinetics of organic compounds forming the compact adsorption layer at Bi single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2007, 212 p.
- 72. Erki Enkvist. Synthesis of adenosine-peptide conjugates for biological applications. Tartu, 2007, 114 p.
- 73. **Svetoslav Hristov Slavov**. Biomedical applications of the QSAR approach. Tartu, 2007, 146 p.
- 74. Eneli Härk. Electroreduction of complex cations on electrochemically polished Bi(*hkl*) single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2008, 158 p.
- 75. **Priit Möller.** Electrochemical characteristics of some cathodes for medium temperature solid oxide fuel cells, synthesized by solid state reaction technique. Tartu, 2008, 90 p.
- 76. **Signe Viggor.** Impact of biochemical parameters of genetically different pseudomonads at the degradation of phenolic compounds. Tartu, 2008, 122 p.
- 77. Ave Sarapuu. Electrochemical reduction of oxygen on quinone-modified carbon electrodes and on thin films of platinum and gold. Tartu, 2008, 134 p.
- 78. Agnes Kütt. Studies of acid-base equilibria in non-aqueous media. Tartu, 2008, 198 p.
- 79. **Rouvim Kadis.** Evaluation of measurement uncertainty in analytical chemistry: related concepts and some points of misinterpretation. Tartu, 2008, 118 p.
- 80. Valter Reedo. Elaboration of IVB group metal oxide structures and their possible applications. Tartu, 2008, 98 p.
- 81. Aleksei Kuznetsov. Allosteric effects in reactions catalyzed by the cAMPdependent protein kinase catalytic subunit. Tartu, 2009, 133 p.

- 82. Aleksei Bredihhin. Use of mono- and polyanions in the synthesis of multisubstituted hydrazine derivatives. Tartu, 2009, 105 p.
- 83. Anu Ploom. Quantitative structure-reactivity analysis in organosilicon chemistry. Tartu, 2009, 99 p.
- Argo Vonk. Determination of adenosine A<sub>2A</sub>- and dopamine D<sub>1</sub> receptorspecific modulation of adenylate cyclase activity in rat striatum. Tartu, 2009, 129 p.
- 85. **Indrek Kivi.** Synthesis and electrochemical characterization of porous cathode materials for intermediate temperature solid oxide fuel cells. Tartu, 2009, 177 p.
- 86. **Jaanus Eskusson.** Synthesis and characterisation of diamond-like carbon thin films prepared by pulsed laser deposition method. Tartu, 2009, 117 p.
- 87. **Marko Lätt.** Carbide derived microporous carbon and electrical double layer capacitors. Tartu, 2009, 107 p.
- 88. Vladimir Stepanov. Slow conformational changes in dopamine transporter interaction with its ligands. Tartu, 2009, 103 p.
- 89. Aleksander Trummal. Computational Study of Structural and Solvent Effects on Acidities of Some Brønsted Acids. Tartu, 2009, 103 p.
- 90. **Eerold Vellemäe.** Applications of mischmetal in organic synthesis. Tartu, 2009, 93 p.
- 91. **Sven Parkel.** Ligand binding to 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptors and its regulation by Mg<sup>2+</sup> and Mn<sup>2+</sup>. Tartu, 2010, 99 p.
- 92. **Signe Vahur.** Expanding the possibilities of ATR-FT-IR spectroscopy in determination of inorganic pigments. Tartu, 2010, 184 p.
- 93. **Tavo Romann**. Preparation and surface modification of bismuth thin film, porous, and microelectrodes. Tartu, 2010, 155 p.
- 94. Nadežda Aleksejeva. Electrocatalytic reduction of oxygen on carbon nanotube-based nanocomposite materials. Tartu, 2010, 147 p.
- 95. **Marko Kullapere.** Electrochemical properties of glassy carbon, nickel and gold electrodes modified with aryl groups. Tartu, 2010, 233 p.
- 96. Liis Siinor. Adsorption kinetics of ions at Bi single crystal planes from aqueous electrolyte solutions and room-temperature ionic liquids. Tartu, 2010, 101 p.
- 97. **Angela Vaasa.** Development of fluorescence-based kinetic and binding assays for characterization of protein kinases and their inhibitors. Tartu 2010, 101 p.
- 98. **Indrek Tulp.** Multivariate analysis of chemical and biological properties. Tartu 2010, 105 p.
- 99. **Aare Selberg.** Evaluation of environmental quality in Northern Estonia by the analysis of leachate. Tartu 2010, 117 p.
- 100. **Darja Lavõgina.** Development of protein kinase inhibitors based on adenosine analogue-oligoarginine conjugates. Tartu 2010, 248 p.
- 101. Laura Herm. Biochemistry of dopamine  $D_2$  receptors and its association with motivated behaviour. Tartu 2010, 156 p.

- 102. **Terje Raudsepp.** Influence of dopant anions on the electrochemical properties of polypyrrole films. Tartu 2010, 112 p.
- 103. **Margus Marandi.** Electroformation of Polypyrrole Films: *In-situ* AFM and STM Study. Tartu 2011, 116 p.
- 104. **Kairi Kivirand.** Diamine oxidase-based biosensors: construction and working principles. Tartu, 2011, 140 p.
- 105. Anneli Kruve. Matrix effects in liquid-chromatography electrospray mass-spectrometry. Tartu, 2011, 156 p.
- 106. **Gary Urb.** Assessment of environmental impact of oil shale fly ash from PF and CFB combustion. Tartu, 2011, 108 p.
- 107. Nikita Oskolkov. A novel strategy for peptide-mediated cellular delivery and induction of endosomal escape. Tartu, 2011, 106 p.
- 108. **Dana Martin.** The QSPR/QSAR approach for the prediction of properties of fullerene derivatives. Tartu, 2011, 98 p.
- 109. Säde Viirlaid. Novel glutathione analogues and their antioxidant activity. Tartu, 2011, 106 p.
- 110. Ülis Sõukand. Simultaneous adsorption of Cd<sup>2+</sup>, Ni<sup>2+</sup>, and Pb<sup>2+</sup> on peat. Tartu, 2011, 124 p.
- 111. Lauri Lipping. The acidity of strong and superstrong Brønsted acids, an outreach for the "limits of growth": a quantum chemical study. Tartu, 2011, 124 p.
- 112. **Heisi Kurig.** Electrical double-layer capacitors based on ionic liquids as electrolytes. Tartu, 2011, 146 p.
- 113. **Marje Kasari.** Bisubstrate luminescent probes, optical sensors and affinity adsorbents for measurement of active protein kinases in biological samples. Tartu, 2012, 126 p.
- 114. Kalev Takkis. Virtual screening of chemical databases for bioactive molecules. Tartu, 2012, 122 p.
- 115. Ksenija Kisseljova. Synthesis of  $aza-\beta^3$ -amino acid containing peptides and kinetic study of their phosphorylation by protein kinase A. Tartu, 2012, 104 p.
- 116. **Riin Rebane.** Advanced method development strategy for derivatization LC/ESI/MS. Tartu, 2012, 184 p.
- Vladislav Ivaništšev. Double layer structure and adsorption kinetics of ions at metal electrodes in room temperature ionic liquids. Tartu, 2012, 128 p.
- 118. **Irja Helm.** High accuracy gravimetric Winkler method for determination of dissolved oxygen. Tartu, 2012, 139 p.
- 119. Karin Kipper. Fluoroalcohols as Components of LC-ESI-MS Eluents: Usage and Applications. Tartu, 2012, 164 p.
- 120. Arno Ratas. Energy storage and transfer in dosimetric luminescent materials. Tartu, 2012, 163 p.
- 121. **Reet Reinart-Okugbeni**. Assay systems for characterisation of subtypeselective binding and functional activity of ligands on dopamine receptors. Tartu, 2012, 159 p.

- 122. Lauri Sikk. Computational study of the Sonogashira cross-coupling reaction. Tartu, 2012, 81 p.
- 123. Karita Raudkivi. Neurochemical studies on inter-individual differences in affect-related behaviour of the laboratory rat. Tartu, 2012, 161 p.
- 124. **Indrek Saar.** Design of GalR2 subtype specific ligands: their role in depression-like behavior and feeding regulation. Tartu, 2013, 126 p.
- 125. Ann Laheäär. Electrochemical characterization of alkali metal salt based non-aqueous electrolytes for supercapacitors. Tartu, 2013, 127 p.
- 126. **Kerli Tõnurist.** Influence of electrospun separator materials properties on electrochemical performance of electrical double-layer capacitors. Tartu, 2013, 147 p.
- 127. Kaija Põhako-Esko. Novel organic and inorganic ionogels: preparation and characterization. Tartu, 2013, 124 p.
- 128. **Ivar Kruusenberg.** Electroreduction of oxygen on carbon nanomaterialbased catalysts. Tartu, 2013, 191 p.
- 129. Sander Piiskop. Kinetic effects of ultrasound in aqueous acetonitrile solutions. Tartu, 2013, 95 p.
- 130. **Ilona Faustova**. Regulatory role of L-type pyruvate kinase N-terminal domain. Tartu, 2013, 109 p.
- 131. **Kadi Tamm.** Synthesis and characterization of the micro-mesoporous anode materials and testing of the medium temperature solid oxide fuel cell single cells. Tartu, 2013, 138 p.
- 132. Iva Bozhidarova Stoyanova-Slavova. Validation of QSAR/QSPR for regulatory purposes. Tartu, 2013, 109 p.
- 133. Vitali Grozovski. Adsorption of organic molecules at single crystal electrodes studied by *in situ* STM method. Tartu, 2014, 146 p.
- 134. Santa Veikšina. Development of assay systems for characterisation of ligand binding properties to melanocortin 4 receptors. Tartu, 2014, 151 p.
- 135. Jüri Liiv. PVDF (polyvinylidene difluoride) as material for active element of twisting-ball displays. Tartu, 2014, 111 p.
- 136. Kersti Vaarmets. Electrochemical and physical characterization of pristine and activated molybdenum carbide-derived carbon electrodes for the oxygen electroreduction reaction. Tartu, 2014, 131 p.
- 137. Lauri Tõntson. Regulation of G-protein subtypes by receptors, guanine nucleotides and Mn<sup>2+</sup>. Tartu, 2014, 105 p.
- 138. Aiko Adamson. Properties of amine-boranes and phosphorus analogues in the gas phase. Tartu, 2014, 78 p.
- 139. **Elo Kibena**. Electrochemical grafting of glassy carbon, gold, highly oriented pyrolytic graphite and chemical vapour deposition-grown graphene electrodes by diazonium reduction method. Tartu, 2014, 184 p.
- Teemu Näykki. Novel Tools for Water Quality Monitoring From Field to Laboratory. Tartu, 2014, 202 p.
- 141. Karl Kaupmees. Acidity and basicity in non-aqueous media: importance of solvent properties and purity. Tartu, 2014, 128 p.

- 142. **Oleg Lebedev**. Hydrazine polyanions: different strategies in the synthesis of heterocycles. Tartu, 2015, 118 p.
- 143. Geven Piir. Environmental risk assessment of chemicals using QSAR methods. Tartu, 2015, 123 p.
- 144. **Olga Mazina.** Development and application of the biosensor assay for measurements of cyclic adenosine monophosphate in studies of G protein-coupled receptor signalinga. Tartu, 2015, 116 p.
- 145. Sandip Ashokrao Kadam. Anion receptors: synthesis and accurate binding measurements. Tartu, 2015, 116 p.
- 146. **Indrek Tallo.** Synthesis and characterization of new micro-mesoporous carbide derived carbon materials for high energy and power density electrical double layer capacitors. Tartu, 2015, 148 p.
- 147. **Heiki Erikson.** Electrochemical reduction of oxygen on nanostructured palladium and gold catalysts. Tartu, 2015, 204 p.
- 148. Erik Anderson. *In situ* Scanning Tunnelling Microscopy studies of the interfacial structure between Bi(111) electrode and a room temperature ionic liquid. Tartu, 2015, 118 p.
- 149. Girinath G. Pillai. Computational Modelling of Diverse Chemical, Biochemical and Biomedical Properties. Tartu, 2015, 140 p.
- 150. **Piret Pikma.** Interfacial structure and adsorption of organic compounds at Cd(0001) and Sb(111) electrodes from ionic liquid and aqueous electrolytes: an *in situ* STM study. Tartu, 2015, 126 p.
- 151. Ganesh babu Manoharan. Combining chemical and genetic approaches for photoluminescence assays of protein kinases. Tartu, 2016, 126 p.
- 152. Carolin Siimenson. Electrochemical characterization of halide ion adsorption from liquid mixtures at Bi(111) and pyrolytic graphite electrode surface. Tartu, 2016, 110 p.
- 153. Asko Laaniste. Comparison and optimisation of novel mass spectrometry ionisation sources. Tartu, 2016, 156 p.
- 154. Hanno Evard. Estimating limit of detection for mass spectrometric analysis methods. Tartu, 2016, 224 p.
- 155. **Kadri Ligi.** Characterization and application of protein kinase-responsive organic probes with triplet-singlet energy transfer. Tartu, 2016, 122 p.
- 156. **Margarita Kagan.** Biosensing penicillins' residues in milk flows. Tartu, 2016, 130 p.
- 157. **Marie Kriisa.** Development of protein kinase-responsive photoluminescent probes and cellular regulators of protein phosphorylation. Tartu, 2016, 106 p.
- 158. **Mihkel Vestli.** Ultrasonic spray pyrolysis deposited electrolyte layers for intermediate temperature solid oxide fuel cells. Tartu, 2016, 156 p.
- 159. **Silver Sepp**. Influence of porosity of the carbide-derived carbon on the properties of the composite electrocatalysts and characteristics of polymer electrolyte fuel cells. Tartu, 2016, 137 p.
- 160. Kristjan Haav. Quantitative relative equilibrium constant measurements in supramolecular chemistry. Tartu, 2017, 158 p.

- 161. **Anu Teearu**. Development of MALDI-FT-ICR-MS methodology for the analysis of resinous materials. Tartu, 2017, 205 p.
- 162. **Taavi Ivan**. Bifunctional inhibitors and photoluminescent probes for studies on protein complexes. Tartu, 2017, 140 p.
- 163. **Maarja-Liisa Oldekop**. Characterization of amino acid derivatization reagents for LC-MS analysis. Tartu, 2017, 147 p.
- 164. Kristel Jukk. Electrochemical reduction of oxygen on platinum- and palladium-based nanocatalysts. Tartu, 2017, 250 p.
- 165. Siim Kukk. Kinetic aspects of interaction between dopamine transporter and *N*-substituted nortropane derivatives. Tartu, 2017, 107 p.
- 166. **Birgit Viira**. Design and modelling in early drug development in targeting HIV-1 reverse transcriptase and Malaria. Tartu, 2017, 172 p.
- 167. **Rait Kivi**. Allostery in cAMP dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit. Tartu, 2017, 115 p.
- 168. Agnes Heering. Experimental realization and applications of the unified acidity scale. Tartu, 2017, 123 p.
- 169. **Delia Juronen**. Biosensing system for the rapid multiplex detection of mastitis-causing pathogens in milk. Tartu, 2018, 85 p.
- 170. **Hedi Rahnel.** ARC-inhibitors: from reliable biochemical assays to regulators of physiology of cells. Tartu, 2018, 176 p.
- 171. Anton Ruzanov. Computational investigation of the electrical double layer at metal–aqueous solution and metal–ionic liquid interfaces. Tartu, 2018, 129 p.
- 172. Katrin Kestav. Crystal Structure-Guided Development of Bisubstrate-Analogue Inhibitors of Mitotic Protein Kinase Haspin. Tartu, 2018, 166 p.
- 173. **Mihkel Ilisson.** Synthesis of novel heterocyclic hydrazine derivatives and their conjugates. Tartu, 2018, 101 p.
- 174. Anni Allikalt. Development of assay systems for studying ligand binding to dopamine receptors. Tartu, 2018, 160 p.
- 175. **Ove Oll.** Electrical double layer structure and energy storage characteristics of ionic liquid based capacitors. Tartu, 2018, 187 p.
- 176. **Rasmus Palm.** Carbon materials for energy storage applications. Tartu, 2018, 114 p.
- 177. **Jörgen Metsik.** Preparation and stability of poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) thin films for transparent electrode applications. Tartu, 2018, 111 p.
- 178. **Sofja Tšepelevitš.** Experimental studies and modeling of solute-solvent interactions. Tartu, 2018, 109 p.
- 179. **Märt Lõkov.** Basicity of some nitrogen, phosphorus and carbon bases in acetonitrile. Tartu, 2018, 104 p.
- 180. Anton Mastitski. Preparation of  $\alpha$ -aza-amino acid precursors and related compounds by novel methods of reductive one-pot alkylation and direct alkylation. Tartu, 2018, 155 p.
- Jürgen Vahter. Development of bisubstrate inhibitors for protein kinase CK2. Tartu, 2019, 186 p.

- 182. **Piia Liigand.** Expanding and improving methodology and applications of ionization efficiency measurements. Tartu, 2019, 189 p.
- 183. **Sigrid Selberg.** Synthesis and properties of lipophilic phosphazene-based indicator molecules. Tartu, 2019, 74 p.
- 184. **Jaanus Liigand.** Standard substance free quantification for LC/ESI/MS analysis based on the predicted ionization efficiencies. Tartu, 2019, 254 p.
- 185. **Marek Mooste.** Surface and electrochemical characterisation of aryl film and nanocomposite material modified carbon and metal-based electrodes. Tartu, 2019, 304 p.
- 186. **Mare Oja.** Experimental investigation and modelling of pH profiles for effective membrane permeability of drug substances. Tartu, 2019, 306 p.
- 187. Sajid Hussain. Electrochemical reduction of oxygen on supported Pt catalysts. Tartu, 2019, 220 p.
- 188. **Ronald Väli.** Glucose-derived hard carbon electrode materials for sodiumion batteries. Tartu, 2019, 180 p.
- 189. Ester Tee. Analysis and development of selective synthesis methods of hierarchical micro- and mesoporous carbons. Tartu, 2019, 210 p.
- 190. **Martin Maide.** Influence of the microstructure and chemical composition of the fuel electrode on the electrochemical performance of reversible solid oxide fuel cell. Tartu, 2020, 144 p.
- 191. Edith Viirlaid. Biosensing Pesticides in Water Samples. Tartu, 2020, 102 p.
- 192. Maike Käärik. Nanoporous carbon: the controlled nanostructure, and structure-property relationships. Tartu, 2020, 162 p.